# SMART OUTSIDE, ROTTEN INSIDE

April 2024

# bruno manser fonds

for the peoples of the rainforest



# Contents

Preface	
Executive Summary	4
1. Context	6
1.1. Deforestation in Romania	6
1.2. IKEA's sustainability promises	
2. Methodology	9
3. Results	13
3.1 Ingka-owned forests	15
Location 1: Popești, Iași. Ingka-owned forest in Natura 2000 protected area	
Location 2: Penteleu, Buzău. Ingka-owned forest in Natura 2000 protected area	20
Location 3: Țibău, Maramureș. Ingka-owned forest on the edge of Maramureș Natural Park	27
Location 4: Fetești, Suceava. Ingka-owned forest near protected area	31
Location 5: Cicănești, Argeș. Ingka-owned forest near protected area	
Location 6: Ceahlău, Neamț. Ingka-owned forest near Ceahlău National Park	
Location 7: Câmpuri, Vrancea. Ingka-owned forest. Partly Natura 2000 site	
3.2 Ikea supply forests, not owned by Ingka	45
Location 8: Vecerd, Sibiu. Forest linked to IKEA supply chain. Natura 2000 site	
Location 9: Vard, Sibiu. Forest linked to IKEA supply chain. Natura 2000 site	
4. Confronting IKEA	
5. Conclusions	57
Glossary	59
Annexes	60

# Preface

IKEA is convenient. No one would doubt that. Their furniture is pretty cheap and easy to install. Their engineers, marketing and greenwashing are impeccable. One can give them that. But what is cheap for consumers and profitable for IKEA is expensive for nature. IKEA is smart outside but rotten inside.

Agent Green and the Bruno Manser Fund (BMF) have walked the forests of Romania, forests that are either owned by Ingka Investments or feed IKEA furniture suppliers. The investigation findings are of utmost concern. They leave the impression that IKEA treat forests like agricultural crops. Letting trees grow old is not in their culture. Removing entire forests in a short period of time is a matter of urgency for IKEA, the tree hunter. The entity disregards both the written laws and the unwritten ways of nature. IKEA does not practise what they preach regardless of whether it is the European Union nature directives, Romanian national legislation, or the FSC forest certification standard.

One minimum exigence imposed by the FSC standard in Romania is that old trees important for biodiversity are conserved in various forms during logging. For progressive logging, national legislation requires that at least 70% of the forest stand is regenerated before the final cut. Our investigators found that none of these requirements were met for the analysed forests, while the company certifying IKEA's forests did not take any measures. How could they when IKEA contributes to their salaries?

We also found that IKEA does not make a difference between protected areas and production forests. They perform complete removal of the forest habitat even in Natura 2000 protected areas without undergoing environmental appropriate assessments as required by EU law. This means that all families of bears, wolves, lynx, birds and other animals who live in IKEA's forests are becoming homeless. Entire flora and fauna habitats are being degraded or destroyed.

**Gabriel Păun** President of Agent Green

## **Executive Summary**

In a context of systemic corruption, poor law enforcement and logging pressure from global timber markets, Romania's forests are under massive threat of degradation and destruction.

This report shows how IKEA and the Ingka Group, its largest franchisee, fail to live up to EU policies, national legislation and even their own declared sustainability standards, as they directly contribute to that destruction. Our analysis has identified over 50 suspected breaches of EU or national law and poor forest management practices. This indicates a consistent pattern of destructive logging in forests that the furniture giant owns or sources wood from in Romania, with catastrophic consequences for nature and climate. As the world's largest individual buyer and retailer of wood and Romania's largest private forest owner (ca. 51,000 ha), IKEA seems to greatly profit from the forest situation in Romania and to extract as much wood as possible. It uses intensive logging and poor forestry practices even in protected areas such as Natura 2000 sites. Inevitably, this results in biodiversity rich forests being rapidly fragmented, degraded, or even converted into barren landscapes.

The findings presented in this report are based on field investigations and analysis of relevant documents including forest management plans (FMPs). A total of nine forest areas were analysed, of which seven are Ingka-owned and two are linked to the IKEA supply chain. In all the analysed forests we found similar patterns of intensive commercial logging, mostly clearcuts and progressive logging, leaving behind severely degraded ecosystems. We documented extreme examples of soil degradation and erosion often observed on barren landscapes with little to no natural forest regeneration. Shockingly, forest degradation occurred in all the sites we visited, including high conservation value (HCV) forests located in protected areas.

Only ca. 0.05% of Ingka's Romanian forests visited by the investigators are under strict protection. 90% are under an intensive wood production regime, despite the fact that four out of seven areas visited are overlapping with Natura 2000 protected areas. Some of these forests were strictly protected before Ingka Investments, the Ingka Group investment arm, bought them. Some of them were under low intensity logging. Everything changed over the past 10 years, since Ingka took over the ownership and management of these forests.

Six of the seven FMPs assessed by the investigators contain absolutely 0% of the forest areas under strict protection. Not even one hectare was found to be under strict protection out of almost 13,000 hectares of the six Ingka-owned areas from the counties of Iaşi, Buzău, Vrancea, Suceava, Neamţ and Argeş. Only 9.96% of these forest areas are under low or moderate intervention regimes, amounting to 1,433 ha. **Overall, from the total of 51,335.49 ha that Ingka Investments owns in Romania (99% forest), only 1.04% are under a strict protection (non-intervention) regime and 8.25% are under partial protection.** 

If we assess this situation against the EU Nature **Restoration Law and the EU Biodiversity Strategy** for 2030, then IKEA is extremely far from meeting these targets. The EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030 requires EU countries to strictly protect at least 10% of their territory and partially protect at least 30% of their territory. Ingka Investments, as the largest private forest owner in Romania fails to meet these EU targets, at only 1% strict protection and 8% partial protection. Another key EU objective is to strictly protect all remaining primary or oldgrowth forests in the EU (not just virgin forests in a narrow sense, as per the current National legislation), while increasing the quantity, quality and resilience of all forests in the EU. The Nature Restoration Law is also a key policy instrument to reach the EU carbon sinks goal and make the EU climate neutral by 2050.

All in all, our analysis reveals that through a consistent pattern of destructive and allegedly illegal logging IKEA is contributing to the rapid degradation of Romania's forests, especially old-growth forests. This also contributes to compromising the achievement of EU objectives for nature protection and climate by Romania.

It should be noted that as a forest owner and administrator, Ingka Investments is directly responsible for what happens in its forests.

In light of these findings, Agent Green and the Bruno Manser Fund urge IKEA and the Ingka Group to:

- practice what they preach, so that the "planet positive" image actually matches reality on the ground. In Romania, this means strictly and effectively controlling the conduct of their subcontractors and wood suppliers to put an end to the ongoing destructive logging and bad forestry practices;
- immediately halt intensive commercial logging in all owned forests that are located within or near protected areas such as Natura 2000, national and natural parks;
- strictly protect (T1) at least 10% of their forest property in Romania; perform only close-to-nature forestry (T2) in 20% and selective logging (T3) in the remaining 70%. This should ensure compliance with national laws, EU nature laws and the FSC standard;
- strictly protect the entire forest body at Țibău, an Ingka property that overlaps with the proposed area to establish the future Bucovina Peace National Park;

- ensure full traceability of all wood used in IKEA products worldwide, be it massive wood or composites. Only in this way can IKEA guarantee that the wood in its products is free of deforestation and forest degradation;
- not accept in its supply chain any wood coming from national or natural parks;
- allow independent forest monitoring by civil society and investigative journalists. Involving civil society organisations and independent media in the monitoring process of its own forests (e.g. audits alongside certification bodies) would help to ensure that sustainability standards are correctly implemented and actually meet their goals.

Finally, we call on IKEA to use its weight to help tackle deeply rooted issues such as corruption and insufficient forest monitoring, in order to change forestry for the better in Romania. As a company with total revenues of EUR 29.1 billion and a net profit of EUR 1.6 billion in the financial year 2023, the Inter IKEA Group carries a special responsibility. It should set a clear and strong example of respecting and even going beyond legal obligations on sustainable forest management, not just on paper but in its daily practice.





*Old-growth forests in Penteleu, Buzău county. Protected according to EU law but not protected by their owner, Ingka Investments* 

# 1. Context

#### 1.1. Deforestation in Romania

Romania's forests are under massive threat of degradation and destruction, and so are the habitats and species they harbour. According to a recent report, although most of the Carpathians have been under some form of protection since the 1990s (e.g. Natura 2000 network, national protected areas), on average only 3% of the Carpathian forests are strictly protected, e.g. from logging and new forest roads. For Romania's remaining primary and old-growth forests, this percentage of strict protection (nonintervention) is only 2.4%.1 According to Global Forest Watch, between 2001 and 2022 Romania lost 407,000 ha of tree cover. This amounts to a 5% decrease in tree cover since 2000.<sup>2</sup> After the fall of the communist regime in 1989 and the EU accession in 2007, Romania's forests were gradually opened up to global timber markets. They are now under strong logging pressure from the global appetite for timber, against a backdrop of systemic corruption, complex easy-to-circumvent legislation, poor law enforcement, insufficient control capacity and hundreds of vicious logging-related attacks on people who have "dared" to bother the timber mafia in recent years.<sup>3</sup>

The Primofaro forest inventory (2019) identified 525,632 hectares of potential old-growth and primary forests in Romania including 480,054 hectares showing no significant signs of human use since the 1960s.<sup>4</sup> This study purposely includes close-to-nature forests which have been used by humans in the past but have developed again to a very high degree of naturalness and are considered worthy of protection. The identified forests include 116,589 ha of the "virgin and quasi-virgin" forests identified by the 2005 Pin Matra study (Biris and Veen 2005)<sup>5</sup>. As far as High Conservation Value (HCV) forests are concerned, a recent scientific study mapped HCV forests in Romania based on forest continuity since 1955, forest canopy structural and compositional complexity and anthropogenic pressures. It concluded that Romania still hosts over 700,000 ha of HCV forests.<sup>6</sup> However, historically, conservation efforts in Romania have focused on strictly defined "virgin" forests, while other closeto-nature forests with high biodiversity value have been over-critically checked for signs of human use and disqualified from strict protection.<sup>7</sup> To date, only 72,279.43 ha have been included in Romania's National Catalog of Virgin and Quasi-Virgin Forests and are strictly protected.8

The conservation of habitats and species is required not only under the EU Birds Directive (79/409/EEC) and Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC), transposed into Romanian legislation since 2007, but also under the



EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030 and the upcoming EU Nature Restoration Regulation. The goal of the Biodiversity Strategy is to put Europe's biodiversity on the road to recovery by 2030 for the benefit of nature, people and climate. It is scientifically proven that old-growth mixed species forests are 70% more effective as carbon sinks than monoculture forests.<sup>9</sup> Under the strategy, the EU member states committed to legally protect a minimum of 30% of both Europe's land and sea by 2030, and 10% need to be strictly protected. One key objective is to strictly protect all remaining primary or old-growth forests in the EU (not just virgin forests in a narrow sense), while increasing the quantity, quality and resilience of all forests in the EU. Furthermore, the restoration law will require EU member states to restore ecosystems on at least 20% of the EU's land and sea area by 2030.

Under the EU Regulation on deforestation-free supply chains 2023/1115 (EUDR), with rules applicable as of 30 December 2024, Romania will also have the obligation to prevent companies from placing relevant products (including wood and derived products) on the EU market, unless they are: "deforestation-free"; produced in accordance with the relevant legislation of the country of production; and covered by a due diligence statement indicating no more than a negligible risk of non-compliance. Unlike the previous EU Timber Regulation (EUTR), the EUDR also targets logging that is legal in accordance with the laws of the country of production but still results in deforestation or forest degradation.<sup>10</sup>

Over the past years, Agent Green, EuroNatur and ClientEarth have provided the European Commission with overwhelming evidence of the destruction happening in Romania's primary and old-growth forests which are part of the Natura 2000 network of protected areas. However, the EU infringement procedures initiated by the Commission as a result of these efforts are not progressing.<sup>11</sup> More than 100,000 people have signed the petition urging the EU Environment Commissioner, Virginijus Sinkevičius, to refer Romania to the EU Court of Justice in order to put an end to the ongoing forest destruction.<sup>12</sup>

According to the successive analyses of the state of Romania's Natura 2000 sites conducted

by Agent Green, EuroNatur and ClientEarth, destructive logging "with papers", i.e. with written authorisation, has even increased since 2020.<sup>13</sup>

It seems that the threat of new measures to halt destructive logging has sparked "panic logging", meaning extracting as much timber as possible (while still possible) and disqualifying entire forest areas from protection. The latest field investigations clearly show that the widely practised progressive logging has been extremely damaging for the analysed Natura 2000 sites because it is conducted at too short intervals, causing the forest to lose its regenerative capacity. Therefore, it often results in barren landscapes similar to cleared forest areas. Other types of commercial logging observed also contribute to forest destruction or degradation. Despite these facts, in Romania commercial logging is still allowed in Natura 2000 sites on large shares of their surface.<sup>14</sup> The forests that Ingka owns or sources wood from make no exception, as detailed in this report.

Romania has started designating Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) for its Natura 2000 Sites of Community Importance (SCI) in 2020. But so far, progress has been slow, leaving these protected areas without management plans and site-specific conservation objectives and measures. This is not in line with the EU Habitats Directive as well as the EU Biodiversity and Forest Strategies for 2030.



The latter state that all remaining primary and old-growth forests must be strictly protected. Under the EU Habitats Directive, impact assessments called Appropriate Assessments (AA) are mandatory for all new plans and projects (such as logging) that may adversely impact Natura 2000 sites.<sup>15</sup> In specific cases, require Strategic projects Environmental Assessments (SEA) and Environmental Impact Assessments (EIAs) under the EU Environmental Impact Assessment Directive (2011/92/EU as amended by 2014/52/EU).16

Only one of the Ingka Investments forest management plans (FMPs) in the investigated areas had an AA. Latest investigations confirm the fact that most of the management plans of forests located in Romania's Natura 2000 sites still lack AAs<sup>17</sup>, although these legal obligations have been in place since Romania's EU accession in 2007. But even if AAs or EIAs were conducted, national provisions still consider highly damaging types of logging such as progressive logging and clearcuts to align with nature conservation objectives.<sup>18</sup>

Another issue is related to compensations to forest owners for revenues lost due to environmental protection constraints, e.g. in Natura 2000 sites. Monetary compensations have been foreseen by the 2008 Romanian Forest Code but they have not been systematically paid. In addition, it has been reported that the forest compensation legislation has technically disqualified some forests from being included in the National Catalogue of Virgin and Quasi-Virgin Forests, while it has financially undermined initiatives on the part of local communities to voluntarily include certain areas. This was because public authorities, such as village councils managing community forests, were not eligible for compensation.<sup>19</sup> At the same time, the forest restitution process which started in the 1990s fragmented forests over small areas, often under 10 ha, and created hundreds of thousands of "new" forest owners. Under the 2008 Forest Code, owners of forest areas smaller than 100 ha (who did not associate with others to request common forest management plans) were not allowed to harvest due to lack of FMP. This situation led to massive "panic logging" on top of other illegal logging happening in restituted forests. According to the scientific study of Angelova et al. 2009, 15% of the restituted forest area was deforested by 2006.<sup>20</sup>

#### 1.2. IKEA's sustainability promises

The Ingka Group, based in the Netherlands, is a company licensed to operate IKEA retail operations in a number of countries worldwide. It is the largest of the 12 IKEA franchisees operating IKEA stores and other sales channels under agreements with the Inter IKEA Group based in Liechtenstein.<sup>21</sup> The Ingka Group has three business areas: 1) IKEA Retail consisting of 482 IKEA stores across 31 markets; 2) Ingka Centres consisting of 44 shopping centres across Europe and China; and 3) Ingka Investments created to make "responsible investments in the company's core business" (IKEA retail).<sup>22</sup> The IKEA Group has recently become the Ingka Group which is owned by the INGKA Foundation.<sup>23</sup>

IKEA has a comprehensive sustainability strategy. It claims to be people and planet positive, to become circular and climate-positive, to use regenerating resources, all while at the same time continuing to grow its business.<sup>24</sup> IKEA states that it ensures its wood is traceable and comes only from responsibly managed forests through a comprehensive due diligence system, including regular audits and inspections, and the FSC certification as an additional safeguard. Thus, IKEA states that "under no circumstances do we accept wood that fails to meet our critical requirements. If we discover irregularities, we take immediate action."25 We have looked at how IKEA is putting these principles into practice in the Romanian forests. Our investigation shows a very different picture, as detailed in the next chapters.<sup>26,27</sup>

# 2. Methodology

For this investigation, we conducted a preliminary examination of a total of thirty forest sites owned by Ingka Investments or connected to IKEA's main suppliers in Romania. We narrowed the list down to nine forest areas and three connected factories and large deposits. Seven of the forests selected for analysis are Ingka-owned and two are forests linked to IKEA's supply chain. The main criteria for selection of the forest areas were: 1) the wood volumes extracted based on the forest management plans (FMPs); 2) the visibility of forest openings on satellite images; 3) the presence of protected areas; 4) the potential presence of old-growth or primary forests; 5) the forest accessibility; and 6) the risks involved in entering those forests.

For our investigation of recent logging, we used both open data sources such as Google Earth and the Copernicus Data Space Ecosystem Browser of the EU Earth Observation Programme. Google Earth satellite imagery had limitations because some of the images were 2 to 5 years old. However, on the Copernicus browser we could find weekly updates of satellite imagery in low resolution. This became the main source of satellite imagery for our analysis. Below you can see an example of what a forest in Suceava looks like on Google Earth as compared to Copernicus. Preliminary findings from satellite image analysis were validated on the ground.

Regarding harvested wood volumes, we looked mainly at individual logging permits (APVs) issued in relation to each of the thirty forest areas. We analysed together with a forest engineer if the logging permits declared in SUMAL, the Romanian wood traceability system, matched reality on the ground. In respect to the forest stands and their management including protection regime, we detected the presence of old forests, some potentially old-growth or even primary forests, in remote areas such as the Penteleu Natura 2000 site. In addition, six out of the nine analysed forests are inside or neighbouring protected areas, mainly Natura 2000 sites.

A large number of the forest sites visited were not selected because of their inaccessibility and the security risks involved. We have not included into the analysis properties that in the past have proven both difficult to access and dangerous, for example forest areas where we have been stopped and threatened by loggers.

The forest sites considered safe were visited from April 2023 to February 2024. Field data was collected with regard to a number of indicators related to specific legal obligations (EU and national) on forest management and nature conservation. These indicators include: 1) the state of natural regeneration of logged forest areas; 2) the state of soil; and 3) the overall state of natural habitats. In particular, each location was checked for habitat degradation, natural tree regeneration after logging and any trace of bad forest management practices, such as soil erosion or damage to standing trees due to logging.

The field investigation was complemented by an analysis of the forest management plans (FMPs) of the visited forests. Key analysed aspects of the FMPs are: 1) the planned logging volumes for the period 2021-2023; 2) the logging types; 3) the tree species composition; 4) the forest functions (protection, production); 5) the forest management types according to Romanian legislation (functional types T1, T2 etc.; see Glossary).



Satellite photos of Ingka forest near Feteşti, Suceava. Google earth photo (up) and ESRI Satelite more recent photo based on Sentinel2 (down)



Map of logging permits issued to Ingka Investments in Romania. Source: SUMAL Romanian wood traceability system, Forest Inspector application

# Map of analysed forest areas, Ingka-owned or Ingka-linked via IKEA supply chain



#### Legend

Visited forests Ingka-linked
 Visited forests Ingka-owned
 Ingka Investments properties
 Natura 2000 protected areas
 Romania







# 3. Results

The management types, including protection regimes, of the analysed forests is presented in the following table. From a total of 14,385.38 hectares of Ingka-owned forests visited:

- **89.99% (12,945.80 ha) are under intensive logging regimes** (T3+; limited to no protection, large-scale industrial wood production allowed);
- 9.96% (1,433 ha) are under a moderate intervention regime (T2; partial protection); and
- only 0.05% (6.5 ha) are under a strict protection regime (T1; no intervention).

Our analysis also covered the forest management types of all Ingka Investments properties in Romania which amount to 51,335.49 ha. From this total area, only 1.04% (534 ha) are under strict protection (functional type T1) and 8.25% (4,233.02 ha) are under partial protection (T2). The rest are managed for industrial wood production (T3, T4, T6). We have also discovered that the areas under strict and partial protection are not evenly distributed throughout the Ingka Investments properties. For example, 76% of the strictly protected area (407 ha) is located in one forest in Valea Neagră, Motnau. Without this property, the remaining 42 forest areas owned by Ingka (45,597 ha) would only average 0.28% of strict protection (T1).

With regard to the analysed forests owned by Ingka Investments in Romania, our investigation indicates at least 50 suspected violations of EU or Romanian legislation as well as poor forest management practices. They are summarised in Annex 1.



#### Ingka forest management in Romania

Forest management types of all Ingka Investments properties in Romania

# Table 1: Management type of the analysed Ingka-owned forest areas

Analysed forest area; production unit (U.P.) according to FMPs	Total forest area (ha)	Intensive w production (TIII+TIV+T\		Moderate interventio Partial pro (TII) ha / %	tection	Non-inte Strict pro (TI) ha / %	
1. U.P. Popești, Iași	2,923.20	2,907.90 ha	99.48%	15.30 ha	0.52%	0 ha	0%
2. U.P. Nehoiu, Buzău (Penteleu)	1,552.80	1,361.30 ha	87.67%	191.50 ha	12.33%	0 ha	0%
3. 2 U.P. Țibău, Maramureș	1,398.90	1,335.20 ha	95.45%	57.20 ha	4.09%	6.50 ha	0.46%
4. U.P. Adâncata, Suceava	432.60	432.60 ha	100%	0 ha	0%	0 ha	0%
5. U.P. Cicănești, Argeș	949.80	804.10 ha	84.66%	145.70 ha	15.34%	0 ha	0%
6. U.P. Ceahlău/ Dreptu, Neamț	3,388.10	2,871.70 ha	84.76%	516.40 ha	15.24%	0 ha	0%
7. U.P. Câmpuri- Panciu, Vrancea	3,739.98	3,233.00 ha	86.44%	506.98 ha	13.56%	0 ha	0%
Total size (ha)	14,385.38	12,945.80		1,433.08		6.50	
Percentage %		<b>89.99</b> %		9.96%		0.05%	
EU recommended %				30%		10%	

#### 3.1 Ingka-owned forests

#### Location 1: Popești, Iași. Ingka-owned forest in Natura 2000 protected area

For the forest near Popeşti, Iaşi county, the large forest openings we saw on satellite images were confirmed on the ground. In particular, this was the case for one central location where several logging permits had been issued for parcels in close vicinity to one another. Logging on these parcels created a large opening in the forest, resembling a clearcut in places.



Large progressive logging site resembling clearcut near Popești, Iași county

#### Table 2: Analysis of the forest near Popești, Iași

Location name	Popești, Iași
Location GPS	47°04'31.2"N 27°15'43.9"E
Forest owner	Ingka Investments Forest Assets SRL
Forest management plan (FMP)	FMP from 2017
Old growth forest	Potentially
Protected area	Yes, two Natura 2000 sites: Pădurea Floreanu - Frumușica - Ciurea ROSPA0163, ROSCI01052
Habitats and species examples / Threatened species on IUCN Red List	Species include: Lesser spotted eagle ( <i>Aquila pomarina</i> ), Eurasian eagle-owl ( <i>Bubo bubo</i> ), hen harrier ( <i>Circus cyaneus</i> , threatened), Montagu's harrier ( <i>Circus pygargus</i> , threatened).

	The appropriate assessments (AA) conducted for other forests inside the same Natura 2000 site have found many more species than described in the EU standard data form. This indicates the need for a management plan. This is one of the Natura 2000 sites where a Special Area of Conservation (SAC) has not been designated, although it has been 17 years since ROSCI01052 was created. This is in breach of the EU Habitats Directive. Ingka has been the owner of this forest since 2016. All the logging works of the past 8 years have been done in the absence of a Natura 2000 management plan and AA as required by EU legislation.
Environmental / Appropriate Assessment (AA)	Not available at the time of site visit, in breach of EU Habitats Directive; in progress as of 2024 but not yet approved
Logging permits	Several logging permits (APV), including: APV 2200125300050 APV 2200125300520 APV 2200125300770
Type of logging	Progressive logging
Logging active/inactive	Active in 2023
Volume of wood extracted 2021-2023	Over 3,200 m <sup>3</sup>
Type of wood extracted	European beech ( <i>Fagus sylvatica</i> ) and oak ( <i>Quercus petraea, Quercus robur</i> )
Suspected breaches of law and bad forest management practices	<ul> <li>appropriate assessment (AA) not performed before logging</li> <li>number of allowed interventions was exceeded in parcel 144 (2 instead of 1)</li> <li>maximum allowed wood volume to be extracted was exceeded in parcels 144 and 145A by a total of 200.50 m<sup>3</sup></li> <li>poor natural regeneration for oak species</li> <li>biotope trees and dead wood missing</li> <li>clearcut around water bodies (several ponds)</li> <li>habitats and threatened species affected</li> <li>breaches of SUMAL wood traceability system, e.g. several transport notices showed deficiencies such as wood loads not clearly visible and abnormal routes taken</li> <li>soil degradation including erosion</li> <li>damage to trees not subject to logging.</li> </ul>

Other forest owners neighbouring the Ingka Investments property near Popești have done their appropriate assessment (AA). However, Ingka has so far failed to conduct an AA, in breach of the EU Habitats Directive, despite owning this property since 2016.

# Suspected breaches of EU and national legislation

Final progressive logging was conducted here in the absence of natural regeneration of main tree species, in particular oak (*Quercus petraea*, *Quercus robur*), in breach of national legislation. The Romanian technical norms require that a forest parcel is regenerated to a minimum of 70% before the final stage of progressive logging is done ("tăieri de racordare", connection cuts).<sup>28</sup>

As a result, the legally required species composition has not been maintained here. According to national law, when a parcel has a large percentage of commercially valuable species such as oak (*Quercus petraea*, *Quercus robur*), the natural regeneration of these species must be promoted during the logging operation, so that the current species composition is maintained or improved. In this case, the correct procedure would have been to delay final logging until the confirmation that a new generation of oak saplings was present in a large enough percentage. This did not happen here: while the original forest had oak trees in percentage of 30-50%, the new poorly regenerated forest has less than 5% oak in its composition.

Without manual replanting of oak (*Quercus petraea*, *Quercus robur*) in the forest near Popeşti, these species will be completely replaced here by faster growing but less commercially valuable species such as hornbeam (*Carpinus betulus*) and beech (*Fagus sylvatica*). The local disappearance of oak has a negative impact not only on the economic value of wood but also on the biodiversity of this area. This is because all the species dependent or growing on oak trees, for instance vulnerable saprophytic beetles such as the Great Capricorn beetle (*Cerambyx cerdo*), will also disappear. Any negative impact on vulnerable species of European conservative interest is in breach of EU nature conservation legislation, notably the Habitats Directive.

National and EU legislation also requires that 3 to 5 large biotope trees per hectare are left standing in order to promote biodiversity. There were hundreds of large monumental trees in this forest area but they have all been cut down. We measured several tree stumps of over 1m in diameter. All the insects, fungi, mushrooms, birds, mammals and other species that were dependent on these big biotope trees have also disappeared from the logged area.

The EU Habitats Directive requires that where there are permanent water bodies in the forest such as marsh areas, ponds, streams and lakes, these ecologically sensitive areas are protected by keeping them shaded and not cutting the trees around them. However, we found several wet areas inside these forest parcels where all the surrounding trees had been cut. This type of irresponsible forest management will likely result in the permanent disappearance of these wet



Progressive logging site with very little natural regeneration near Popești, Iași

areas through evaporation and the disappearance of all the species dependent on water, such as amphibians, insects, birds and others.





Pond with all trees around it cut down in the Ingka forest near Popești, Iași

According to SUMAL, the Romanian wood traceability system, the Frumuşica Natura 2000 forest area has over 100 logging permits issued in the last three years. This is the second biggest concentration of logging permits in Ingka properties in Romania after Ceahlău. It is shocking to see that logging in and around protected areas happens at higher intensities than in Ingka-owned forests without a protection status.

We tracked some of the oak trees (*Quercus petraea*, *Quercus robur*) logged in this forest. As visible in the photo below, they were going directly to the Iris Services factory in Miercurea Ciuc, which is a major supplier of furniture to IKEA.



Map from SUMAL wood traceability system, Forest Inspector application, showing the route taken by transport no. BC74SGR on 28.08.2023 from the forest outside Popeşti to the Iris factory in Miercurea Ciuc



Photo from SUMAL wood traceability system, Forest Inspector application, showing the wood transported by truck no. BC74SGR on 28.08.2023 from the forest outside Popeşti to the Iris factory in Miercurea Ciuc



Iris factory in Miercurea Ciuc, is a main supplier to IKEA in Romania

Forest management	Surface (ha)	Percentage of forest (%)
Intensive wood production (T4+T6)	2,907.9	99.5
Moderate interventions (T2)	15.3	0.5
Non-intervention (T1)	0	0
TOTAL	2,923.2	100%

#### Table 3: Protection regime of the forest near Popești, Iași

Despite its Natura 2000 protection status, not even one hectare of this forest is strictly protected. More worryingly, 99.5% of it is under an intensive wood production regime.

#### Location 2: Penteleu, Buzău. Ingkaowned forest in Natura 2000 protected area

The Penteleu forest in Buzău county is a very important site because it is one of the few Ingka Investments properties with a large concentration of potentially old-growth forests (several hundred hectares). Despite their high conservation value (HCV), none of these forest areas are under a strict protection regime. What Ingka is doing instead is degrading these remaining oldgrowth and potentially virgin forest parcels and disqualifying them from strict protection. It does so by downgrading them in terms of average ages, making "light" interventions such as sanitary logging, and finally opening them up to commercial logging. Intensive logging in the oldest parcels is then conducted as a matter of urgency, as described by Agent Green in the 2021 report on IKEA.<sup>29</sup> What is different on this occasion is that only now the impact of this destructive forest management is clearly visible and shocking to see on the ground. For example, where we were expecting to see mild interventions such as "cvasigrădinărite" (close to nature forestry) as stated in the forest management plan (FMP), an intervention that is meant to increase diversity of tree ages in the forest, we found traces of clearcuts on the ground.



Ingka-owned old-growth forest in Penteleu, Buzău. Degraded forest area



Ingka-owned old-growth forest in Penteleu, Buzău. Area not yet impacted by intensive logging

<b>_</b>	
Location name	Penteleu, Buzău
Location GPS	45°37'59.9"N 26°22'07.3"E
Forest owner	Ingka Investments Forest Assets SRL
Forest management plan (FMP)	Yes, from 2017
Old growth forest	Yes, very likely
Protected area	Yes, Penteleu Natura 2000 site ROSCI0190
Habitats and species examples / Threatened species on IUCN Red List	Habitats include: <i>Luzulo-Fagetum</i> beech forests, Alluvial forests with Alnus glutinosa and Fraxinus excelsior, Acidophilous Picea forests of the montane to alpine levels (Vaccinio-Piceetea), Dacian Beech forests ( <i>Symphyto-Fagion</i> ), Alpine rivers and their ligneous vegetation with <i>Myricaria germanica</i> , Alpine and Boreal heaths Species include: wolf ( <i>Canis lupus</i> ), Eurasian otter ( <i>Lutra lutra</i> ), Lynx ( <i>Lynx lynx, near threatened</i> ), brown bear ( <i>Ursus arctos</i> ), crested newt ( <i>Triturus cristatus</i> ), Montandon's newt ( <i>Triturus montandoni</i> ), Barbus petenyi, Campanula serrata, Carabus variolosus, Euplagia quadripunctaria, Rosalia alpina

## Table 4: Analysis of the forest of Penteleu, Buzău

Environmental / Appropriate Assessment (AA)	Not available at the time of site visit, in breach of EU Habitats Directive; in progress as of 2024 but not yet approved
Logging permits	Several logging permits (APV), including: APV 2100125303000 sanitary logging APV 2200125300710 accidental logging APV 2100125302920 accidental logging APV 2100125303010 sanitary logging APV 2100125301790 "close to nature" logging APV 2200125303040 "close to nature" logging APV 2200125303200 "close to nature" logging APV 2100125300780 "close to nature" logging
Type of logging	Close to nature logging ("cvasigrădinărite") resembling progressive logging on the ground
Logging active/inactive	Active in 2023
Volume of wood extracted 2021-2023	Over 10,000 m <sup>3</sup>
Type of wood extracted	Beech (Fagus sylvatica), spruce (Picea abies) and fir (Pinus sylvestris)
Suspected breaches of law and bad forest management practices	<ul> <li>environmental assessment (AA) not performed before logging, in breach of EU Habitats Directive</li> <li>falsification of average age for several parcels in forest management plan (FMP) opening them up to logging</li> <li>clearcuts disguised as close to nature forestry</li> <li>degradation of potentially primary and old-growth forest</li> <li>severe soil erosion due to use of heavy machinery during rainy weather</li> <li>damages to trees which were not subject to logging</li> <li>disqualification of forest areas from inclusion into National catalogue for virgin and quasi-virgin forests.</li> </ul>

In Penteleu, primary and old-growth forest plots had survived until the start of the current forest management plan (FMP) in 2017. As the forest owner and administrator, Ingka Investments had a legal responsibility to identify and protect these intact forest areas. Instead, the firm which drew up the FMP for Ingka appears to have deliberately chosen to degrade these areas by any means possible. This includes falsifying the average ages of some plots, so that they no longer meet the criteria for strict protection under Romanian legislation. For example:

• Parcel 11C, called "u.a." 11C in the FMP (planning unit), was 161 years old in 2017, with a consistency (forest stand density) of 0.8 and without forestry interventions in the previous decade. This forest plot is now proposed for conservation cuts.

Parcel 12A was 155 years old and incorrectly described in the FMP as 105 years old, with a consistency of 0.8 and minor forestry interventions in the past (sanitary logging). This plot is now proposed for conservation cuts. It is also a seed reservation.

DESCRIEREA STATIUNII SI ARBORETULUI	EIM	P	М.	VIR			С	AM	EL	PROVE-	VI	DENS	V O	LUM	CRES
12 A 18.0 HA GF.1-5H,1G,5M SUP:K TS:3333 TP:1311 SOL:4101 Versant framintat, EXPOZITIE E INC. 20 G ALTTIUDINE: 1000-1150 M.	ARB			SIA ANI						NIENIA	TA LI				MC/ HA
INC. 20 G ALTHOUME: 1000-1130 M. LITTERA:continua - normala TIP FLORA:Aspenula-Dentaria Natural fundamental prod. sup relativ-plurien COMP.ACIUAIA : 5 MO 2 BR 3 FA COMP.TEL : 6 MO 2 BR 2 FA SORT:MO Gros si f.gros,cherestea VIRSIA EXPL. SEM.UTIL: SUBARBORET: DATE COMPL. Alte date complement.	MD BR EA MD BR	1 3 2	IN IN IN	155 155 155 105 105	50 50 48	34 33 30 30 29	22	I I I I		RN RN RN RN RN	N N N	0.24 0.08 0.24 0.16 0.08	39 166 109	702 2988 1962	1.1 0.5 0.9 1.2 0.7
FOL: ERZ: IUCRARI EXEC. 2015-T.igiena IUCRARI PROP. T.IGIENA	TOE	AL	(	105			2					0.80	516	9288	4.4

12A parcel description according to forest management plan (FMP)

The 12A parcel description clearly indicates that, at the time of the FMP development in 2017, 70% of this forest parcel was aged 155 and only 30% thereof was aged 105. The dominant age element therefore should have been 155, as shown in the age box for this parcel above. Instead, the average age (visible at the bottom of the screenshot above) was lowered by 50 years to 105.

• Parcel 13A was 160 years old and very likely an old growth forest and a seed reserve, with

a consistency of 0.9 and without forestry interventions in the past. It is now proposed for sanitary logging.

Parcel 14A was 155 years old and was incorrectly described on the map as 120 years old, with a consistency of 0.9 and no forestry interventions in the past. It is now proposed for sanitary logging. Again, this was potentially an old growth forest before Ingka did the first round of sanitary logging.

DESCRIEREA STATIUNII SI ARBOREIULUI	EIM	P	М.	VIR			C	AM	EL	PROVE-	VI	IENS	VO	LUM	CRES
14 A 20.5 HA GF.1-1G,4J,5M SUP:J TS:3333 TP:1311 SU:3101 Versant onclulat , EXFOLITIE E INC. 25 G ALITIUDINE: 1050-1150 M.	ARB		-	SIA ANL		-				NIENIA	AT LI				MC/ HA
INC. 25 G ALTHOUME: 1000-1150 M. LITTERA:continua - normala TIP FIORA:Aspenula-Dentaria Natural fundamental prod. sup relativ-plurien COMP.ACIUAIA : 5 MO 2 BR 3 FA COMP.TEL : 4 MO 3 BR 3 FA SORT:MO Gros si f.gros,cherestea VIRSIA EXPL.120 ani SEM.UTIL: 6FA 3BR 1MO SUBARBORET: DATE COMPL.	MARAMR	3	IN	155 155 155 120 120	58 52 44					RN RN RN RN RN	N N N	0.18 0.09 0.27 0.27 0.09	70 210 211	1435 4305 4326	1.0 1.4
POL: ERZ: LUCRARI EXEC.															
LUCRARI PROP. T.IGIENA (T.CVAsigrad dec II)	TOL	AL	(	120	)		2					0.90	701	14371	4.4

14A parcel description according to forest management plan (FMP)

The 14A parcel description clearly indicates that, in 2017, 60% of the forest parcel was 155 years old and only 40% was aged 120. Therefore, the current dominant age should have been 155 but instead the age was lowered by 35 years to 120, as visible at the bottom of the screenshot above. Parcel 15A had an average age of 135 years but it also had 30% of trees aged 160 years, with a consistency of 0.9 and without forestry interventions in the past. It is now proposed for sanitary logging. Again, this was a potentially old growth forest. Together, forest parcels 11C, 12A, 13A, 14A and 15A form a common body of 86 ha and may have qualified for inclusion in the national catalogue of virgin and quasi-virgin forests (i.e. strict protection). The catalogue requires that forest parcels that have at least 10% of trees aged 150 years or older, with natural development and no signs of human activities in the past 30 years should be recognised as virgin or cvasi-virgin forests and strictly protected by their owners. But due to downgrading through falsification of average ages for plots 12A and 14A in the forest management plan (FMP) and interventions such as sanitary logging, they no longer form a common group and independently they do not meet the minimum size of 30 ha for inclusion in the national catalogue. Nevertheless, we believe that they still fulfil the EU criteria for old-growth forests and should be strictly protected as such.



Parcels with old-growth forest forming a compact body that would have qualified for strict protection if they had not been downgraded

We have also documented how Ingka sees the final result of their forest management of old-growth forest stands. Where there used to be intact oldgrowth forests, Ikea has authorised so-called "close to nature" forestry which, on paper at least, is one of the most non-intrusive types of logging and similar to conservation logging. What we found instead on the ground is aggressive, commercial logging that resembles clearcuts or progressive logging, where all the mature forest stands have been removed. For this location, on satellite images we can see new and older gaps in the vegetation, indicating multiple interventions without natural regeneration. Our suspicion here is that clearcuts and progressive logging are disguised as "close to nature" ("cvasigrădinărite") logging, and there is a very big difference between these types of logging.

Some of these degraded old-growth forest parcels that we visited in Penteleu were:

• Parcel 16A had an average age of 166 years.

Despite this age, it was cut almost to the ground. It already had a reduced consistency of only 0.2 in 2019, after which another 1100  $m^3$  were removed in 2021 through the logging permit (APV) 2100125301790.

- Parcel 17A had an average age of 166 years. Despite this age, it was cut almost to the ground. It already had a reduced consistency of only 0.2 in 2019, after which another 700 m<sup>3</sup> were removed in 2023 through the logging permit (APV) 2200125303040.
- Parcel 18B had an average age of 171 years. Despite this age, it was cut almost to the ground. It already had a reduced consistency of only 0.1 in 2017, after which another 611 m<sup>3</sup> were removed in 2023 through the logging permit (APV) 2200125303200.
- Parcel 19A had an average age of 166 years. It had a reduced consistency of only 0.4 in 2019, after which another 1400 m<sup>3</sup> were removed in 2023 through the logging permit (APV) 2100125300780.

# Suspected breaches of EU and national legislation

The main issue we found in Penteleu is the degradation of potentially primary and old-growth forest stands through logging works. These are the most valuable forest habitats in the EU and they must be strictly protected. Specifically, the grouping of parcels 11C, 12A, 13A, 14A, 15A and 65A would have likely met the conditions for inclusion in the national catalogue of virgin and quasi-virgin forests, especially in terms of average age. We do not have the full history of these parcels for the past 30 years to make a precise analysis regarding catalogue inclusion. However, according to national law, the forest owner had the obligation to identify and protect these forest parcels. Moreover, they still meet the EU criteria to be classified as old-growth forests and be put under strict protection. The EU Commission provides the following definition: forest stands or areas consisting of native tree species that have developed, predominantly through natural processes, structures and dynamics normally associated with late-seral developmental phases in primary or undisturbed forests of the same type. Signs of former human activities may be visible, but they are gradually disappearing or too



Large-scale logging site in Penteleu forest incorrectly categorised as "close to nature" logging



*Ground photo of so-called "close to nature" forestry resembling clearcut* 

limited to significantly disturb natural processes.<sup>30</sup> Therefore, the owner should stop all logging works which can further degrade these parcels.

We discovered that in the forest management plan (FMP), the average age was incorrectly set for parcels 12A, 14A and 65A. We suspect that this was done in order to avoid recognising a compact body larger than 20/30 ha, that would have qualified these forests for strict protection. We believe that the owner acted specifically to create the appearance of failure to meet the criteria and indicators for identifying virgin forests and semi-virgin according to OM 3397/2012.

In other forest parcels, a larger quantity of wood was removed than specified in the forest management plan (FMP):

- in parcel 16A, the allowed volume was exceeded by 262 m<sup>3</sup> (31%);
- in parcel 17A, the allowed volume was exceeded by 220 m<sup>3</sup> (45%);
- in parcel 18B, the allowed volume was exceeded by 127 m<sup>3</sup> (26%).

Another issue detected here is the incorrect application of "close to nature" logging. There were many gaps in the forest resembling clearcuts without natural regeneration. Therefore, the remaining forest in these areas no longer has the complex structure of a mixed mature forest.

The passage of heavy machinery during periods of precipitation left deep logging roads behind, thus soil erosion and degradation. According to national legislation, these logging roads should have been filled back at the end of the logging. This has not been done.

Moreover, we observed track marks indicating that heavy machinery moved the wood through the local stream, which is strictly forbidden by national legislation.

National and EU legislation requires that 3 to 5 large biotope trees per hectare are left standing in order to promote biodiversity. In some parcels, no biodiversity trees were left after logging.

Forest management	Surface (ha)	Percentage of forest (%)
Intensive wood production T3	1,361.30	87
Moderate interventions T2	191.5	13
Non-intervention T1	0	0.0
TOTAL	1,552.80	100%

#### Table 5: Protection regime of the forest of Penteleu, Buzău

Despite the exceptional conservation value and Natura 2000 protection status of this forest, not even one hectare of this forest is strictly protected. 13% are in moderate protection, where logging operations on a smaller scale are possible. 87% are under an intensive wood production regime.

#### Location 3: Țibău, Maramureș. Ingka-owned forest on the edge of Maramureș Natural Park

This is an ecologically sensitive forest located in Maramureş county on the edges of the Maramureş Natural Park and in close vicinity to the Munții Maramureşului Natura 2000 sites. Here we were expecting from the forest owner and administrator, Ingka Investments, a sensible forestry approach focusing on the conservation of the area's natural heritage. Instead, we found new clearcuts which are the most destructive form of commercial logging interventions. These interventions were made in what was already a heavily degraded forest landscape.

In this area, Ingka Investments purchased forests that grow on steep, rocky slopes which were

under strict or partial protection in the past. For instance, in parcel 21D, which had an average age of 126 years, no logging was registered before the Ingka takeover in 2020. According to the new Ingka forest management plans (FMP), all these ecologically fragile forests are now managed only for wood production, with no large areas under strict protection. The clear aim of the new FMP is to increase wood production, while ignoring the conservation value of these forests. Therefore, one can conclude that the takeover by Ingka Investments resulted in a considerable decrease in the level of protection of this forest area. The ecological protection functions of this forest (e.g. stabilisation of soils and preventing landslides on steep slopes) were not taken into account in the new forest management plans.

#### Location name **Tibău**, Maramureș Location GPS 47°39'08.9"N 24°59'07.7"E **Forest owner** Ingka Investments Forest Assets SRL FMP from 2018 Forest management plan (FMP) FMP from 2021 **Old growth forest** Unknown Buffer zone; on the borders of Maramures Natural Park and Natura 2000 sites **Protected** area ROSPA0131 and ROSCI0124 At least 31 habitats including Luzulo-Fagetum beech forests, Asperulo-Fagetum beech Habitats and species examples / forests, Medio-European limestone beech **Threatened species on IUCN Red List** forests of the Cephalanthero-Fagion Species include: *Cypripedium calceolus* (near threatened), *Danube Hucho hucho* (endangered) Not available at the time of the site visit, **Environmental assessment** in breach of EU Habitats Directive; in progress as of 2024 but not yet approved Several logging permits (APVs) including: APV 2200125302110 **Logging permits** APV 2100125302300 APV 2200125303340 APV 2100125304810

#### Table 6: Analysis of the forest in Țibău valley, Maramureș

Type of logging	Clearcuts
Logging active/inactive	Active in 2023
Volume of wood extracted 2021-2023	Over 10,000 m <sup>3</sup>
Type of wood extracted	Beech (Fagus sylvatica), spruce (Picea abies) and fir (Pinus sylvestris)
Suspected breaches of law and bad forest management practices	<ul> <li>number of allowed interventions exceeded in parcel 21D (2 instead of 1)</li> <li>logging permits not renewed 8 months after expiry in parcel 13A</li> <li>progressive logging disguised as "close to nature" forestry</li> <li>traces of heavy machinery passing through the stream</li> <li>soil degradation caused by heavy machinery passing through during rainy periods</li> <li>access paths used for timber collection were not levelled, which caused water runoff and erosion in some areas</li> <li>visible ecosystem degradation</li> <li>no forest restoration conducted</li> <li>protection level lowered considerably since Ingka takeover, from strict or partial protection to intensive wood production</li> <li>no biodiversity trees and dead wood left after logging</li> <li>poor or missing forestry markings.</li> </ul>



Ingka-owned forest in Maramureş, Ţibău valley. Degraded parcels 13A, 20D, 21D



Previously cleared forest areas were purchased by Ingka in Maramureş. No visible forest restoration has been done over the past 3-4 years



Previously reforested area (green) and more recently but ineffectively reforested area (red) by Ingka Investments in Maramureş

Some of these degraded forest areas had been replanted by the previous forest owners 5 to 10 years ago (as shown on the right, in green). However, since the takeover by Ingka in 2020, replanting has slowed significantly and upon our visit in February 2024, we found that only 25-30% of these areas had been reforested (in red).



Forests that developed on steep rocky slopes as the one above, were under full or partial protection in the past 50-60 years. But when Ingka Investments became the new owner, all of these forests were taken out of protection and introduced into commercial wood production.

## Suspected breaches of EU and national legislation

The area of Ţibău valley, Maramureş, includes forests that have developed on steep, rocky slopes that should have been strictly protected according to national legislation. Instead, the new forest owner, Ingka, ignored their conservation value and their current management plan only seeks wood production here. The construction of new roads and opening of new logging sites in this type of fragile ecosystem can have a significantly negative environmental impact.

In the table below, we examined the historical management of the forests recently purchased by Ingka Investments in 2020. What was shocking to see is that from 1967 to 2020, these forests continuously had areas of strict and partial protection for conservation purposes. However, under the new 2021 Ingka management plan these forests are only used for commercial wood production, a practice that was only considered acceptable here during 1953-1966. We believe that this type of forest management with no consideration for nature conservation has no place in modern forestry.

Ingka seems to disagree and the protection status of these ecologically fragile forests was lowered considerably as a result of the Ingka takeover.

				Tabelul 3.1.2.1.1.	
Anul imenajāri	Subunități de gospodărire	Regimul	Compoziția- tel	Tratamente	Ciclu
1.002		l Inferio	r (O.S. Cârlib	aba)	
1953	Codru regulat	codru	100MO	T. rase	100
1967	Codru regulat	codru	90MO 10DR	T. rase parchete mici, T. succesive T. succesive margine de masiv	100
	Protecție absolută	codru		T. igienă	-
1978	Codru regulat	codru	80MO 16LA 4PI	T. rase în parchete mici T. succesive	100
	Protecție absolută	codru		T. igienă	
			-		_
Anul amenajăt	gospodárire	<mark>l e</mark> gimul	Compoziția- tel	Tratamente	Cich
	Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite			Tratamente T. rase	-
amenajăı	Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite Conservare deosebită	odru odru	tel 85MO 10DR 5DT	T. rase Tăieri de conservare,T. igienă	100
amenajār 1988	Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite Conservare deosebită Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite	odru odru odru	tel 85MO 10DR 5DT 10MO	T. rase	100
amenajăı	Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite Conservare deosebită Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite Ocrotirea integrală a naturii	odru odru odru odru	tel 85MO 10DR 5DT	T. rase Tăieri de conservare, T. igienă T. rase	100
amenajār 1988 1998	Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite Conservare deosebită Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite	odru odru odru odru odru odru	tel 85MO 10DR 5DT 10MO	T. rase Tăieri de conservare,T. igienă	100 - 100 -
amenajār 1988	Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite Conservare deosebită Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite Oerotirea integrală a naturii Conservare deosebită Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite Oerotirea integrală a naturii	odru odru odru odru odru odru	tel 85MO 10DR 5DT 	T. rase Tâieri de conservare, T. igienă T. rase Tâieri de conservare, T. igienă T. progresive, T. rase	100
amenajār 1988 1998	Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite Conservare deosebită Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite Ocrotirea integrală a naturii Conservare deosebită Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite	codru codru codru codru codru codru codru codru	tel 85MO 10DR 5DT 10MO 70MO 20LA 10PA	T. rase Tâieri de conservare, T. igienă T. rase Tâieri de conservare, T. igienă T. progresive, T. rase Tâieri de conservare, T. igienă	100 - - - 110
amenajār 1988 1998	Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite Conservare deosebită Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite Oerotirea integrală a naturii Conservare deosebită Codru regulat – sortimente obișnuite Oerotirea integrală a naturii	codru codru codru codru codru codru codru codru	tel 85MO 10DR 5DT 10MO 70MO 20LA 10PA	T. rase Tâieri de conservare, T. igienă T. rase Tâieri de conservare, T. igienă T. progresive, T. rase	100 - - - 110 - - -

Extracts of forest management plan (FMP) information for the forest in Ţibău, Maramureş

Forest management	Surface (ha)	Percentage of forest (%)
Intensive wood production T3+T6	1,335.2	95.4
Moderate interventions T2	57.2	4.1
Non-intervention T1	6.5	0.5
TOTAL	1,398.9	100%

#### Table 7: Protection regime of the Ingka forest in Țibău, Maramureș

Only 0.5% of this forest is strictly protected, despite its ecologically fragile status. More worryingly, 95.4% thereof is under intensive wood production.

#### Location 4: Fetești, Suceava. Ingkaowned forest near protected area

This location caught our interest because of the clearcuts that were authorised in mixed forests. Normally, Romanian legislation exceptionally allows clearcuts only in spruce plantations and forests considered commercially unviable or degraded. Here we suspect that clearcuts were illegally approved in mixed healthy forests in order

to justify wood extraction at a much younger age than legally allowed (at 85 instead of 120 years).

We suspect that the clearcuts were incorrectly planned and approved by the firm drawing up the ten-year forest management plan (FMP). Even the new draft Romanian Forest Code<sup>31</sup>, currently going through Parliament, recognises the negative impact of clearcuts and aims to strictly forbid this type of forest works in all protected areas of Romania.



Suspected illegal clearcut in Ingka forest near Feteşti, Suceava (parcel 37). Audited and approved as respecting FSC standard of sustainable forest management



Suspected illegal clearcuts in Ingka forest near Fetești, Suceava

## Table 8: Analysis of the forest near Fetești, Suceava

Location name	Fetești, Suceava	
Location GPS	47°42'44.7"N 26°20'11.7"E	
Forest owner	Ingka Investments Forest Assets SRL	
Forest management plan (FMP)	FMP from 2019	
Old-growth forest	No	
Protected area	No but near Pădurea Pătrăuți Natura 2000 site ROSCI0075	
Habitats and species examples / Threatened species on IUCN Red List	In nearby Pătrăuți forest Natura 2000 site: Dacian oak & hornbeam forests. Species include: Crested newt ( <i>Triturus cristatus</i> ), Greater mouse-eared bat ( <i>Myotis</i> <i>myotis</i> ), Fire-bellied toad ( <i>Bombina bombina</i> )	
Environmental assessment	Not applicable. Not in a protected area	
Logging permits	Several logging permits (APV), including: APV 2100125303680 APV 2200125301470 APV 2100125302650	
Type of logging	Clearcuts	

Logging active/inactive	Active in 2023	
Volume of wood extracted 2021-2023	Over 5,000 m <sup>3</sup>	
Type of wood extracted	Beech ( <i>Fagus sylvatica</i> ), oak ( <i>Quercus robur</i> ), hornbeam ( <i>Carpinus betulus</i> )	
Suspected breaches of law and bad forest management practices	<ul> <li>clearcut allegedly illegally approved in mixed forest</li> <li>number of interventions exceeded in one parcel</li> <li>inappropriate works conducted in certain parcels; for instance, we found areas consistent with oak that should have been separated and logged with reduced intensity to allow natural regeneration.</li> <li>exceeding the inventoried volume per hectare compared to the FMP planning provisions</li> <li>stand consistency is higher than 0.7, a value wrongly established by the forest planner</li> <li>no site preparation was carried out before planting</li> <li>no soil mobilisation works were carried out in existing plantations</li> <li>low growth and other problems in planted saplings due to lack of works</li> <li>previous logging recorded in 2013 (sanitary logging); Ingka takeover in 2014 and start of intensive logging.</li> </ul>	

# Suspected breaches of EU and national legislation

Our suspicions were confirmed on the ground, where we found a mixed healthy forest with a natural consistency of oak (*Quercus robur*), hornbeam (*Carpinus betulus*), beech (*Fagus sylvatica*), wild cherry (*Prunus avium*), maple (*Acer pseudoplatanus*) and other species. This natural mixed forest with high biodiversity value was deemed unworthy of protection by its owner. It is now in the process of being cleared to the ground and replaced by an orchard-like forest planted in straight rows with low biodiversity value, focusing only on oak and beech trees.

For us, it was shocking to find a healthy, biodiversity rich forest being replaced by a plantation, even if this plantation would be a native oak plantation. This was a forestry practice more common in the communist regime of the 60s and 70s, where the financial benefits of an oak monoculture were encouraged, in the absence of any environmental awareness, yet we were expecting more from a forest owner and administrator in 2023. One of the cleared forest areas we visited (parcel 37) had been audited against the FSC-FM standard in 2021 by the Soil Association Certification. Not only did the Soil Association auditors not find any problem with this apparent illegal clearcut in mixed healthy forests but they even complimented Ingka for using home-grown oak saplings for replanting. It appears that the FSC system does not have a problem with clearcuts in healthy natural forests.

The FSC audit report from 2021 (RT-FM-001-23) is publicly available on the FSC website.<sup>32</sup>



Extract of FSC audit report for Ingka forest near Feteşti, Suceava



Extract from SUMAL wood traceability system on logging permits issued for Ikea-forest near Feteşti, Suceava

#### Table 9: Protection regime of the forest near Fetești, Suceava

Forest management	Surface (ha)	Percentage of forest (%)
Intensive wood production T6	432.60	100%
Moderate interventions T2	0	0
Non-intervention T1	0	0
TOTAL	432.60	100%

#### Not even one hectare of this forest is strictly protected. 100% is under an intensive wood production regime.

#### Location 5: Cicănești, Argeș. Ingkaowned forest near protected area

This is an area with old forest stands located outside a protected area. It is rapidly being cut down by its owner and administrator, Ingka Investments. There are very deep logging roads everywhere (up to 3-4 m deep) and remnants of old-growth forest towards the top of the hill.



Ingka-owned forest located in Cicănești, Argeș. Centre-right: degraded forest parcel



Ingka-owned forest located in Cicănești, Argeș. Soil erosion



Ingka-owned forest located in Cicănești, Argeș. Degraded forest parcel

## Table 10: Analysis of the forest near Cicănești, Argeș

Location name	Cicănești, Argeș	
Location GPS	45°17'52.6"N 24°33'52.7"E	
Forest owner	Ingka Investments Forest Assets SRL	
Forest management plan (FMP)	FMP from 2019	
Old growth forest	Potentially	
Protected area	No but near Valea Vâlsanului Natura 2000 site ROSCI0268	
Habitats and species examples / Threatened species on IUCN Red List	In nearby Valea Vâlsanului Natura 2000 protected area, species include: asprete ( <i>Romanichthys</i> <i>valsanicola</i> ) <b>critically endangered</b> ; stag neetle (Lucanus cervus) <b>near threatened</b> ; <i>Cottus</i> <i>transsilvaniae</i> ; marsh fritillary ( <i>Euphydryas aurinia</i> )	
<b>Environmental assessment</b>	Not applicable. Not in a protected area	
Logging permits	Several logging permits (APVs) including: APV 2200125301240 APV 2000125300051 APV 2100125300150 APV 2200125301230	
Type of logging	Close to nature and progressive	
Logging active/inactive	Active in 2023	
Volume of wood extracted 2021-2023	Over 10,000 m <sup>3</sup>	
Type of wood extracted	Beech (Fagus sylvatica), spruce (Picea abies) and fir (Pinus sylvestris)	
Suspected breaches of law and bad forest management practices	<ul> <li>incorrect application of progressive logging with visible degradation of forest ecosystems</li> <li>due to classification as protection forests, these forests should have been put in category of moderate or no interventions</li> <li>number of interventions foreseen by FMP has been exceeded in one parcel</li> <li>soil degradation caused by the use of heavy machinery in periods of heavy rainfall; severe soil erosion up to 3-4m deep</li> <li>traces of machinery passing through the stream</li> <li>last autumn no ARN works were observed in the field</li> <li>biodiversity trees and dead wood were not preserved</li> <li>poor, unmaintained or missing forestry markings</li> <li>periodic pollution of the creek due to silt carried by torrents on eroded roads.</li> </ul>	
# Suspected breaches of EU and national legislation

These forests are classified as protection forests for rivers and streams in mountain areas that feed natural lakes and reservoirs (category 1.1.c T4). Because of their classification as protection forests they should have been placed in a category that requires much more moderate logging or no logging, such as 1.5.p T2, old, old-growth and natural forests of special value. However, in the FMP they were intentionally introduced into a commercial exploitation category where logging takes place in the same way as in forests without protection functions. This is in breach with a number of national provisions including the instructions approved by OM 1540/2011 and the technical rules regarding the choice and application of treatments.

In this area, the private forest management unit ("ocol silvic") of Ingka posted, starting with 2021, a number of 22 logging permits (APVs), of which 17 are from logging conducted in old, potentially old-growth forest stands, where the extracted volume exceeds 15,300 m<sup>3</sup>. The volume included in only four logging permits was 6,430 m<sup>3</sup> (2,784 trees). In parcel 119A, the management plan only allowed for two interventions per decade, but at least three have been made already, as visible in the Forest

inspector application. Parcel 116A had 40% of its forest stand aged 170 years on average and parcel 119A had 40% of its trees aged 160 on average.

On the field, soil erosion and degradation were observed. This is the result of heavy machinery that worked during rainy weather, in breach of national legislation. No levelling was done at the time of the investigation, again in breach of national legislation. Apart from this, not enough dead trees (1-2%) and biodiversity trees (1-3/ha) have been left standing. All in all, intensive mechanised logging in forest areas which should have been at least partly protected are now leading to the overexploitation, degradation and possibly destruction of these forests.



Extract from SUMAL wood traceability system on logging permits issued for Ingka forest near Cicănești, Argeș

Forest management	Surface (ha)	Percentage of forest (%)
Intensive wood production T4	804,10	84.66
Moderate interventions T2	145,70	15.34
Non-intervention T1	0	0
TOTAL	949,80	100%

### Table 11: Protection regime of the forest near Cicănești, Argeș

Not even one hectare of this forest is strictly protected. Only 15.34% is under a moderate protection regime. 84.66% of this forest is under an intensive wood production regime.

## Location 6: Ceahlău, Neamț. Ingka-owned forest near Ceahlău National Park

The Ceahlău area is the biggest hotspot of logging permits authorised for Ingka-owned forests. According to the SUMAL wood traceability system, 176 logging permits have been issued for this forest over the past 2-3 years. It was a large area to analyse and required several days to scout.

Parts of this forest area are in close vicinity to the Ceahlău National Park and Ceahlău Massif Natura 2000 sites ROSCI0024 and ROSPA0129. This is also a



Degraded forest parcel in the forest near Ceahlău, Neamț

potential hotspot for old-growth forests. However, most of these forests have been degraded by various logging works over the past 10-20 years. Therefore, we were not able to confirm intact oldgrowth forests on the ground. Even so, they remain high conservation value (HCV), high biodiversity forests.

We also looked at logging sites further away from the national park and found an area severely degraded by logging outside Bistricioara, from where we present the data below. This was a very difficult location to access because of a road barrier and video cameras.



Logs of hundreds years old trees by the forest road near Ceahlău, Neamţ

# Table 12: Analysis of the forest near Ceahlău, Neamț

Location name	Bistricioara, Ceahlău			
Location GPS	47°04'38.2"N 25°54'23.7"E			
Forest owner	Ingka Investments Forest Assets SRL			
Forest management plan (FMP)	FMP from 2020			
Old growth forest	Potentially			
Protected area	No, but near Ceahlău National Park and Ceahlău Massif Natura 2000 sites ROSCI0024 and ROSPA0129			
Habitats and species examples / Threatened species on IUCN Red List	Habitats include: Tilio-Acerion forests of slopes, screes and ravines, Alluvial forests with Alnus glutinosa and Fraxinus excelsior ( <i>Alno-Padion, Alnion incanae, Salicion albae</i> ), Acidophilous Picea forests of the montane to alpine levels ( <i>Vaccinio-Piceetea</i> ), Alpine Larix decidua and/or Pinus cembra forests, Dacian Beech forests ( <i>Symphyto-Fagion</i> ) Species include: Tengmalm's owl ( <i>Aegolius funereus</i> ) <b>depleted</b> EU population, kingfisher ( <i>Alcedo</i> <i>atthis</i> ) <b>vulnerable</b> , swift ( <i>Apus apus</i> ) <b>near threatened</b> EU population			
Environmental / Appropriate Assessment (AA)	Yes, we found an AA from 2021. However, the assessment was done one year after the start of the FMP, not before, as per EU requirements.			
Logging permits	Several logging permits (APV), including: APV 2200125303180 APV 2000125300381 APV 2100125304510			
Type of logging	Close to nature and progressive			
Logging active/inactive	Active in 2023			
Volume of wood extracted 2021-2023	Over 5,000 m <sup>3</sup>			
Type of wood extracted	Beech (Fagus sylvatica), spruce (Picea abies) and fir (Pinus sylvestris)			
Suspected breaches of law and bad forest management practices	<ul> <li>close to nature and progressive logging resulted in forest degradation</li> <li>forest stands of 170 years average age opened up to logging</li> <li>local stream degraded by logging operations</li> <li>severe soil degradation and erosion (3-4 metres deep forest road) caused by the use of heavy machinery in periods of rainfall; roads not levelled at the end of logging works</li> <li>soil degradation exacerbated by excessive tractor roads inside forest area</li> <li>damage to trees not subject to logging.</li> </ul>			

# Suspected breaches of EU and national legislation

Main findings here included severe soil degradation present everywhere in these parcels, caused by the passage of heavy machinery during periods of precipitation. We also found an excessive number of tractor roads inside these parcels that accentuates soil degradation.

At the end of logging works, the access roads used for wood collection were not levelled and some of these eroded roads were 3-4 metres deep, destabilising whole slopes. Although these forests have been assigned water protection functions, this protection was not visible on the ground; instead we found the local stream blocked by mud and abandoned vegetation, which has the potential to pollute the hydrographic network downstream.

The local stream (with permanent water flow) at the base of the plots was used as an access road for the removal of wood, strongly degrading this fragile habitat. Moreover, the natural bed was adjusted with an excavator and partially blocked by an artificial dam next to the primary platform area.

Numerous trees were damaged in the logging areas and in the vicinity of wood evacuation routes.



Soil erosion on the forest road in Ingka forest near Ceahlău, Neamț



Degraded forest parcel in the forest near Ceahlău, Neamţ



Extract from logging permit for forest near Ceahlău, Neamţ, from wood traceability system

DESCRIERFA STATIUNII SI ARBORETULUI	EIM	P	м.	VIR			c	AM	EL	PROVE-	VI	DENS	V O	LUM	CRES
549 33.9 HA GF.1-1C, SUP:J TS:3333 TP:1311 SOL:3101 Versant onclulat , EXPOZITIE E INC. 27 G ALTITUDINE: 700-1050 M. LITIERA:continua - normala TIP FLORA:Ascenula-Dentaria	ARB			SIA ANI									MC/ HA		MC/ HA
Natural fundamental prod. sup relativ-plurien COMP.ACTUALA : 7 BR 2 FA 1 MD COMP.TEL : 4 BR 3 FA 3 MD SORT:BR Mijlociu, celuloza, constr. VIRSTA EXFL.120 ani SEM.UTIL: 5BR 4FA 1MD SUBARBORET: DATE COMPL. Alte date complement.	BR AAM	211	NNN	170 100 170 100 170	42 60 38	30 34 29	222	M M M	.7.7.7.7	RN RN RN RN RN RN RN	N N N	0.30 0.12 0.06 0.06 0.06	113 62 60	2102 2034	1.8 1.1 0.2 0.5 0.2
FOL: ERZ: IUCRARI EXEC. 2014-T.produse accidentale 2018-T.produse accidentale IUCRARI PROP. T.CVASIGRADINARITE (jard) INGRIJIREA SEMINTISULUI	TOD	AL	(	170	)		2					0.60	581	19697	3.8

Extract from the forest management plan (FMP) for the forest near Ceahlău, Neamţ, showing how old, valuable forests, aged 170 years on average, are now being degraded by commercial logging approved by Ingka Investments. These types of potentially old growth forests are extremely rare at European level and they should be strictly protected, not destroyed.

Ocolul silvic INGKA INVESTMENTS S.R.L. Autorizație nr230042530068 din 26 03 2023 Titular autorizație S.C. PAVI408457 5 2 1 C. U.I. 26055808 J 277012009 Partida nr. 2325 - Volum 1694 mc Felul tăierii CVASIGRADINARITE JARDINATORII Termenul de exploatare UP. 34. UP. 549 de la 1 3 2023/ până la 30 11 2023

Logging panel of Ingka Investments forest near Ceahlău, Neamț

Forest management	Surface (ha)	Percentage of forest (%)
Intensive wood production T3+T4	2,871.70	84.76
Moderate interventions T2	516.40	15.24
Overlap with National Park and Natura 2000 sites, but not fully protected	837.10	24.40
Non-intervention T1	0	0
TOTAL	3388.10	100%

### Table 13: Protection regime of the forest near Ceahlău, Neamț

Not even one hectare of this forest is strictly protected, although it partially overlaps (24%) with a national park and two Natura 2000 protected areas. Only 15.24% is in a moderate protection regime and 84.76% of this forest is in an intensive wood production regime, including most of the forests from the overlap with Natura 2000 sites.

## Location 7: Câmpuri, Vrancea. Ingka-owned forest. Partly Natura 2000 site

We visited this area after having detected large-scale logging areas on satellite images. We were able to confirm recent logging on the ground but on a smaller scale than expected. Also this logging site was partially regenerated meaning that in places the forest looks healthy.

Access to this location was difficult because of muddy roads. We had to walk a few kilometres to reach this location and due to the terrain we only saw a part of this forest.

Location name	Câmpuri, Vrancea
Location GPS	46°00'13.0"N 26°45'39.1"E
Forest owner	Ingka Investments Forest Assets SRL
Forest management plan (FMP)	FMP from 2021
Old growth forest	Yes
Protected area	Partially overlap (3.92%) with Soveja Natura 2000 site ROSCI0395, but not in the area we visited
Habitats and species examples / Threatened species on IUCN Red List	Habitats include: Luzulo-Fagetum beech forests, Asperulo-Fagetum beech forests, Alluvial forests with Alnus glutinosa and Fraxinus excelsior (Alno-Padion, Alnion incanae, Salicion albae), Dacian Beech forests (Symphyto-Fagion), Alpine and Boreal heaths, Degraded raised bogs still capable of natural regeneration Species include the brown bear (Ursus arctos), Rosalia alpina, greater mouse-eared bat (Myotis myotis)

Environmental / Appropriate Assessment (AA)	Not available at the time of the site visit			
Logging permits	APV 2100125304540 APV 2200125302990			
Type of logging	Progressive and conservation logging			
Logging active/inactive	Active in 2023			
Volume of wood extracted 2021-2023	Over 2,500 m <sup>3</sup>			
Type of wood extracted	Beech (Fagus sylvatica), spruce (Picea abies) and fir (Pinus sylvestris)			
Suspected breaches of law and bad forest management practices	<ul> <li>conditions of exploitation specific to the protected natural area Soveja Natura 2000 site not respected</li> <li>parcel 8F was downgraded by choosing the lower average age for the whole parcel</li> <li>no biodiversity trees and dead wood were preserved</li> <li>severe soil degradation caused by the use of heavy machinery in periods of rainfall; roads not levelled at the end of logging works</li> <li>soil degradation exacerbated by excessive tractor roads inside forest area</li> <li>soil degradation slowing down species regeneration</li> <li>damage to trees not subject to logging.</li> </ul>			



Degraded forest parcel in the forest near Câmpuri, Vrancea



Degraded forest parcel in the forest near Câmpuri, Vrancea



Degraded forest parcel in the forest near Câmpuri, Vrancea



Degraded forest parcel in the forest near Câmpuri, Vrancea



Stump of hundreds years old tree in the forest near Câmpuri, Vrancea

#### INGKA INVESTMENTS FOREST ASSETS

U.P. V CÂMPURI-PANCIU

8 F         14.94 HA         GF:         1 - 2L         SUP: A         TS:         5242 TP:         44           SOL:         3101         Versant mijlociu         ondulat         EXPOZITIE: NE	214 ELN			VAR	DM	HM		I	EL	PROVE		DENS	vo	LUM	CRES
INC: 22 G ALTITUDINE: 350 - 500 M LITIERA: intrerupta-subtire TIP FLORA: Asperula-Asarum	ARE			STA ANI		м	P	MES	AG AJ	NIENTA	TA LI	CONS	MC/ HA	MC/ UA	MC/ HA
Natural fundamental prod. mij. relativ-echien COMP.ACTUALA: 10 FA	FA	3	IN	165	56	24	3	м	.6	RN	N	0.09	32	478	0.2
COMP.TEL: 8FA 2 DT SORT: FA Gros si mijl.,cherestea VARSTA EXPL.: 110 as	ni FA	7	IN	135	46	24	3		.6	RN	N	0.21	74	1106	0.7
SEM.UTIL: 8FA 2 DT 10 ani 0.9S mixt SUBARBORET: DATE COMPL.: Alunecare slaba Alte date complement.															
POL: ERZ:															
LUCRARI EXEC.: 2016-T.progresive(punere lumina)															
2019-T.progresive(insam,p lum)													· · · ·		
LUCRARI PROP.: T.PROGRESIVE(racordare)IMPAD INGRIJIREA SEMINTISULUI	Т	OT.	AL	135			3					0.3	106	1584	0.9

Extract from forest management plan (FMP) for the forest near Câmpuri, Vrancea

# Suspected breaches of EU and national legislation

Our findings here included severe soil degradation present on the edges of these parcels, caused by the passage of heavy machinery during periods of precipitation. We also found an excessive number of tractor roads inside these parcels that accentuates soil degradation. At the end of logging works, the access roads used for wood collection were not levelled and some of these eroded roads were 1-2 metres deep, destabilising whole slopes.

Species regeneration is slow in parts of forest parcels where the soil was heavily damaged by machinery and logging roads. In addition, numerous trees were damaged in the logging areas and in the vicinity of wood evacuation routes.

## Table 15: Protection regime of the forest near Câmpuri, Vrancea

Forest management	Surface (ha)	Percentage of forest (%)
Intensive wood production T3+T4+T6	3,233.00	86.44
Moderate interventions T2	506.98	13.56
Overlap with Natura 2000 sites but not protected	146.52	3.92
Non-intervention T1	0	0
TOTAL	3,739.98	100%

Not even one hectare of this forest is strictly protected, although it partially overlaps (3.92%) with Natura 2000 sites. Only 13.56% are in a moderate protection regime (T2) and 86.44% of this forest is in an intensive wood production regime (T3, T4, T6).

## 3.2 Ikea supply forests, not owned by Ingka

### Location 8: Vecerd, Sibiu. Forest linked to IKEA supply chain. Natura 2000 site

This is a public forest managed by Romsilva, the National Forest Administrator. The company logging in this forest is Silva Group SRL. Silva Group's main wood depot is located in Tălmaciu, south of Sibiu city. Most of the registered wood shipments entering this facility are oak (round wood) coming directly from the forest. Approximately 70% of this wood comes from Natura 2000 protected areas located in the hilly area to the northeast. The Aviva factory producing furniture for IKEA is a major recipient of full oak logs from this facility. As of 2005-2010, Aviva was "Europe's largest producer of solid oak kitchen worktops" and the "world's 1st high volume factory dedicated to engineered kitchen worktops." Aviva produces solid oak kitchen worktops, kitchen islands and tables for IKEA.<sup>33</sup>

This forest is part of the Podişul Hârtibaciului Natura 2000 site which is home to threatened species included on the IUCN Red List. They should be protected according to EU and national legislation.<sup>34</sup>



Cleared forest area near Vecerd, Sibiu. Forest feeding IKEA supply chain



Cleared forest area near Vecerd, Sibiu. Forest feeding IKEA supply chain



Deep capillarity of soil caused by drought after forest area was cleared near Vecerd, Sibiu

## Table 16: Analysis of the forest near Vecerd, Sibiu

Location name	Vecerd, Sibiu			
Location GPS	45°58'14.8"N 24°26'28.1"E			
Forest owner	Romanian state; public forest managed by Romsilva			
Forest management plan (FMP)	FMP from 2014			
Old growth forest	No			
Protected area	Yes, Podişul Hârtibaciului Natura 2000 site ROSPA0099			
Habitats and species examples / Threatened species on IUCN Red List	At least ten threatened European bird species: corncrake ( <i>Crex crex</i> ), lesser spotted eagle ( <i>Aquila pomarina</i> ), European honey-buzzard ( <i>Pernis apivorus</i> ), Ural owl ( <i>Strix uralensis</i> ), European nightjar ( <i>Caprimulgus europaeus</i> ), middle spotted woodpecker ( <i>Dendrocopos medius</i> ), Syrian woodpecker ( <i>Dendrocopos syriacus</i> ), grey-faced woodpecker ( <i>Picus canus</i> ), woodlark ( <i>Lullula arborea</i> ), red-backed shrike ( <i>Lanius collurio</i> )			
Environmental / Appropriate Assessment (AA)	Not available at the time of the site visit, in breach of EU Habitats Directive			
Logging permits	APV 2200069100960			
Type of logging	Progressive			
Logging active/inactive	Active in 2023			
Volume of wood extracted 2021-2023	5,373 m <sup>3</sup>			
Type of wood extracted	Mostly oak (Quercus petraea, Quercus robur)			
Suspected breaches of law and bad forest management practices	<ul> <li>appropriate assessment (AA) not performed before logging</li> <li>conditions of exploitation specific to the protected natural area ROSPA0099 Podişul Hârtibaciului were not respected</li> <li>visible degradation of habitats and endangerment of species</li> <li>progressive logging was incorrectly applied because it did not result in natural regeneration at the required values; the result has the appearance of a clearcut on the ground</li> <li>soil erosion and deterioration caused by the use of heavy machinery in periods of rainfall</li> <li>logging permit APV 2200069101240 was reopened in SUMAL five months after the expiry of the authorised exploitation period</li> <li>no biodiversity trees and dead wood were left after logging</li> <li>non-compliant transport notices issued from logging sites</li> <li>no RNA works in the second half of past year observed</li> <li>damaged trees adjacent to logging sites and evacuation routes access paths used to collect wood have not been levelled</li> <li>poor landscape markings, missing silvicultural markings.</li> </ul>			

## Location 9: Vard, Sibiu. Forest linked to IKEA supply chain. Natura 2000 site

The progressive logging conducted in this old forest stand looks like a clearcut on the ground. The way this forest "treatment" was implemented here resulted in a large forest area being cleared to the ground, with considerable impacts on habitats and species and little chance of natural regeneration. This forest, just as the location in Vecerd, is also part of the Podişul Hârtibaciului Natura 2000 site which is home to threatened species included on the IUCN Red List. They should be protected according to the EU Birds Directive and national legislation.<sup>35</sup> This location was also partially logged by SILVA GRUP SRL (APV 2100069100470), a main supplier to the Aviva factory which makes final products for Ikea.



Cleared forest area near Vard, Sibiu. This forest is part of Podişul Hârtibaciului Natura 2000 protected area harbouring threatened species



Ground view of cleared forest area near Vard, Sibiu. Natura 2000 protected area

## Table 17: Analysis of the forest near Vard, Sibiu

Location name	Vard, Sibiu
Location GPS	45°56'22.9"N 24°35'04.5"E
Forest owner	Romanian state; public forest managed by Romsilva
Forest management plan (FMP)	FMP from 2014
Old growth forest	Yes
Protected area	Yes, Podişul Hârtibaciului Natura 2000 site ROSPA0099
Habitats and species examples / Threatened species on IUCN Red List	<b>Threatened European bird species:</b> corncrake ( <i>Crex crex</i> ), lesser spotted eagle ( <i>Aquila pomarina</i> ), European honey- buzzard ( <i>Pernis apivorus</i> ), Ural owl ( <i>Strix uralensis</i> ), European nightjar ( <i>Caprimulgus europaeus</i> ), middle spotted woodpecker ( <i>Dendrocopos medius</i> ), Syrian woodpecker ( <i>Dendrocopos syriacus</i> ), grey-faced woodpecker ( <i>Picus canus</i> ), woodlark ( <i>Lullula arborea</i> ), red-backed shrike ( <i>Lanius collurio</i> ); Lapwing ( <i>Vanellus vanellus</i> ) <b>vulnerable</b> IUCN, <i>threatened</i> EU population status; Wood Sandpiper ( <i>Tringa glareola</i> ) <b>depleted</b> EU population status
Environmental / Appropriate Assessment (AA)	Not available at the time of the site visit, in breach of EU Habitats Directive
Logging permits	APV 2200069101240 APV 2100069100470 APV 2100069101790
Type of logging	Progressive
Logging active/inactive	Active in 2023
Volume of wood extracted 2021-2023	5,450 m <sup>3</sup>
Type of wood extracted	Beech (Fagus sylvatica), spruce (Picea abies) and fir (Pinus sylvestris)
Suspected breaches of law and bad forest management practices	<ul> <li>appropriate assessment (AA) not performed before logging</li> <li>incorrect application of progressive logging; on the ground it looks like a forest that has been clearcut</li> <li>failed natural regeneration after progressive logging</li> <li>habitats and species are seriously affected</li> <li>no dead wood and biodiversity trees left after logging</li> <li>conditions of exploitation specific to the Natura 2000 protected area were not respected; the main goal pursued was the extraction of high quality wood.</li> </ul>



Ground view of cleared forest area near Vard, Sibiu. Natura 2000 protected area



## Various wood deposits owned or associated with Ikea supply chains

Ingka-owned deposit in Iaşi county. Low grade wood from nearby Ingka forests comes here after which it gets distributed to various local markets and sold as firewood



Iris factory in Miercurea Ciuc producing for Ikea (SC IRIS Service Ciuc SA). We tracked a few wood shipments (mostly oak) from the Ingka forests in Iași county coming directly to this factory



Silva deposit in Talmaciu (SILVA GRUP SRL). Connected to oak forests such as Vecerd and supplying Aviva factory which makes final products for Ikea

# 4. Confronting IKEA

In May 2023, the Bruno Manser Fonds (BMF) and Agent Green sent a letter of concern to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Ingka Group and the CEO and Chief Sustainability Officer (CSO) of IKEA Switzerland (Annex 2). In this letter, we explained our concerns over the destructive logging and bad forest management practices<sup>36</sup> Agent Green had documented in one of Ingka Investments' own forests in the Penteleu massif, Buzău county, Romania. This forest area still includes vast parcels which can be characterised as high conservation value (HCV) with average tree ages of up to 180 years, and it overlaps with a Natura 2000 protected area. In response to our letter, the Ingka Group Press Office made the following statements:

- "At Ingka Investments, our main priority as forest owners is to ensure responsible forest management of all our properties to protect the forest, environment, and biodiversity for many generations to come. We do this by taking a longterm approach that respects the law, sets a high standard, and remains transparent.
- Under no circumstances do we allow irresponsible or illegal forestry practices. This has been confirmed by multiple third-party assessments. Soil Association Certification Ltd. on behalf of the FSC® (FSC-C131270), for example, conducted an assessment in response to the 2021 allegations by Agent Green. This assessment, where Agent Green representatives accompanied the assessors to the field, found no evidence of wrongdoing. In addition to this, an audit of the Soil Association's assessment was conducted by ASI, verifying the findings by the Soil Association.
- As to the more recent claims by Agent Green and Bruno Manser Fonds, Ingka Investments always harvest less than the forests have naturally grown. The total amount of wood harvested on the Penteleu site from 2016-2022 was 42% of the natural growth, and less than half of what was permitted.
- Our Forest Management Plans have been assessed with regards to any potential environmental impact and approved by the

relevant authorities. Once the plans have been approved, we also notify the Natura 2000 site administrators and invite them to join us in our field works and provide feedback and specific measures, which is then incorporated into the activities we implement in the field. In further complying with the Natura 2000 conservation values, we are consulting with a multi-disciplinary experts team, consisting of biologists, ornithologists, mammal experts and more, to periodically monitor the impact of our activities and seek to implement mitigation measures.

- We would like to emphasise that Ingka Investments does not own any property with virgin or quasi-virgin forest in any of the countries where we own forestland, including Romania. This has been verified independently by environmental NGOs, the Ministry of Forestry, and scientific surveys on our property. We also have zero tolerance to deforestation. We ensure proper regeneration of all the plots where we conduct harvesting.
- We always follow the national regulations and legal requirements wherever Ingka Investments manages forests, including all EU directives. In addition, we go beyond legal obligations, meeting the requirements needed for FSC certification and initiating regular audits by independent authorities. Our Forest Management Plans and other documents are publicly available, and each year we personally invite more than 1500 national authorities, NGOs, and other stakeholders to comment.
- We apply responsible and strict management measures that will preserve and even increase the quality of the forest, environment, and biodiversity over time. We want to preserve this equilibrium, as we think this is the way that leads us to a sustainable use of resources in the long term.
- We work diligently and transparently on a daily basis to take responsibility for people and the planet. Our commitment to become a circular and climate positive business by 2030 remains."

In the following we address each of the arguments used in the response to our letter.

## Certification

Recent analyses have shown that forest certification systems as market-based mechanisms which have consistently failed to achieve their goals. It seems that the audits conducted by certification bodies are simply not effective or sufficient to ensure that sustainability on paper matches the situation on the ground. This applies in particular to corruption-rife and high-risk countries such as Romania. This is linked to conflicts of interest and lack of effectiveness of independent assurance services. For instance, certification bodies are paid by the very companies whose compliance with the standards they need to verify.

A recent cross-border investigation led by the International Consortium of Investigative Journalists (ICIJ) found that auditors and certification firms validate products linked to deforestation "with alarming frequency" due to largely unregulated environmental auditing and other issues. The analysis identified 48 auditing firms that had verified practices of companies in the forest products industry and had declared them as sustainable, although these companies had committed law violations such as logging in indigenous forestland and protected reserves, using false permits and importing illegally harvested timber. <sup>37</sup>

Particularly the FSC audits of Ingka-owned forests in Romania appear to be very superficial considering the size and distribution of IKEA forests: over 50,000 ha in 43 different areas. For example, in 2021 audits in Ingka forests in Romania lasted only 5 days, in which the FSC team needed to conduct meetings, interviews, inspection of complex documentation, office audit, field trips to the forests, recording of findings, etc. Given that the 74 plots audited in 2021 were distributed over 7 counties of Romania (BZ, VN, MM, SV, IS, AB, VS), we deduce that the time allocated was completely insufficient to visit all the forest locations and we consider that the FSC checks were based mainly on office records and not on forests visits for all locations.<sup>38</sup> In one example, the FSC auditors reported auditing 3 large forest areas in 3 different counties in just one day (on 5.11.2021) in Vrancea, Suceava and Maramures. We calculated that just the travelling time in between these locations would have taken the whole day, making it extremely unlikely that the auditors had time to also see forest locations. Instead the auditors declared that in one day they visited approximately 20 forest parcels, conducted several interviews, checked office papers and travelled around 9 hours in between these locations.

## Natural growth

The company may harvest less wood than the annual natural forest growth, however this indicator does not provide any information on the state of the forests that have been subject to logging, be they Ingka-owned or just feeding the Ikea supply chain. Our investigation findings clearly show that many of these forests have been severely degraded or even cleared over large areas as a result of the intensive commercial logging and unsustainable forest practices of the logging companies. In Ingka Investments' forests, these are its subcontractors and the company is fully responsible for their actions. As the forest owner and administrator, Ingka Investments has a legal responsibility to ensure that forest habitats are protected and that any damage to vegetation or soils are prevented or restored at the end of the logging. This was not the case in many of the locations visited, where we identified habitat degradation caused by logging that was not restored at the end of the logging period.

## Forest Management Plans (FMPs)

FMPs in Romania generally prioritise logging over nature conservation, they do not take into account forests' protective roles and ecosystem services, and are often flawed as they underestimate the quantity, quality and other features of trees standing in the forest (e.g. tree species, number of trees, quality class, diameter, height).<sup>39</sup> As a result, logging permits based on these FMPs contain highly underestimated timber data and the primary beneficiary (e.g. economic operator, forest owner, forest manager) owns quantities and qualities far higher than those declared in the official documents. The surplus is often logged and transported illegally using various 'methods of theft' as documented and described in the Agent Green report from October 2022. 40

Leaving aside these widespread issues in Romania,

the present investigation reveals a series of errors in the FMPs of the examined forest areas. According to Romanian legislation, Ingka Investments, as a forest owner and administrator, had the obligation to report these errors to the competent authorities. Instead, it kept silent and maybe even used some of them in its favour, in order to maximise the volume of wood harvested from its own forests. Furthermore, it needs to be noted that although in Romania FMPs are drawn up by specialised firms, forest owners do participate in this process and have the power to impose their own forest management objectives. They are the owners of the FMPs they implement, and if these plans contain errors, they must notice and report them - if not at the reception of the forest management plans, then at the latest at the moment of their implementation.

## Virgin or quasi-virgin forests

Ingka Investments claim that they do not own any property with "virgin or quasi-virgin forest" as defined by Romanian legislation. According to our analysis, some of their forests, such as the one in the Penteleu Natura 2000 site, do contain pockets of primary and old-growth forests which are now degraded by logging. So far, Ingka has failed to identify and protect these forests. Moreover, Ingka does own (and sources wood from) forests located in natural protected areas such as Natura 2000 sites, some of which may still be old-growth forests. These forest stands still exhibit high biodiversity value, their habitats still harbour rare or endangered species, and therefore some of these forests should be strictly protected and, only where necessary, logged in a sustainable close-to-nature manner.

To determine whether Ingka Investments still owns any old-growth forests in Romania, one could conduct an analysis of all old-growth parcels on their property, especially those that have had no or only minor interventions over the past 30 years, which is an indicator of potential primary forests. It also needs to be mentioned that none of the visited forest areas which overlapped with Natura 2000 sites were declared as Natura 2000 by Ingka Investments, neither on the on-site information panels, nor in any other way.

## Legality

In Romania "simply" respecting national legislation is clearly not enough to ensure forest protection. This is due to the problematic law enforcement but also because certain provisions are not aligned with EU conservation goals. For example, recent analyses revealed that most of the management plans of forests located in Romania's Natura 2000 sites still lacked environmental assessments called Appropriate Assessments (AAs), although these assessments are mandatory under EU law and are used, among other things, to evaluate the impact of logging operations on protected habitats and species. But even if AAs were conducted, national provisions still consider highly damaging types of logging such as progressive logging to align with nature conservation objectives.

Moreover, under the EU Regulation on deforestationfree supply chains 2023/1115 (EUDR), Romania has the obligation to prevent companies from placing relevant products (including wood and derived products) on the EU market, unless they are: 'deforestation-free'; produced in accordance with the relevant legislation of the country of production; and covered by a due diligence statement indicating no more than a negligible risk of non-compliance. Unlike the previous EU Timber Regulation (EUTR), the EUDR also targets logging that is legal in accordance with the laws of the country of production but still results in deforestation or forest degradation<sup>41</sup>, just like the commercial logging currently conducted in some of the forestlands that Ingka Investments owns or sources wood from.

# Where does the wood go? Example Switzerland

Despite IKEA's comprehensive wood control system, tracing wood from forests to IKEA stores has been described as an "impossible challenge".42 It has been reported that IKEA keeps a good overview of its wood origin internally, while externally this origin is increasingly difficult to trace and blurred as the wood moves through the different links of the supply chain.<sup>43</sup> In 2019, the Bruno Manser Fund (BMF) reported IKEA in Switzerland to the Swiss Federal Department of Economic Affairs, Education and Research for systematic violations of the wood declaration obligation that had been in force since 2012.<sup>44</sup> Upon analysis of IKEA's range of solid wood dining tables and chairs in five IKEA stores, BMF had found that in over 80 cases, IKEA did not declare the type and origin of wood or did so in an improper manner, for instance by providing misleading designations of origin such as "North and South America, Europe, India, Oceania". BMF demanded that IKEA and its managers be fined for violating the Swiss Consumer Information Act and the Ordinance on the Declaration of Wood and Wood Products,45 but IKEA got away without a fine and eventually adjusted its practices.

In December 2023, BMF conducted a new analysis of a selection of IKEA's range of solid wood dining tables and chairs and an analysis of a selection of products containing wood from Romania in two IKEA stores in Switzerland, Pratteln and Spreitenbach. The analysis included 9 dining tables, 9 chairs and 5 other products with main elements of massive wood which fall under the scope of the Swiss Ordinance on the Declaration of Wood and Wood Products (Swiss Wood Declaration Ordinance).

Regarding the selected dining tables and chairs, including those produced in Romania, BMF has come to the following results:

#### 3 OUT OF 9 CHAIRS HAVE NO DECLARATION AT ALL IN ONE OF THE STORES

Thus, 66.6% of the chairs are declared in both stores; all tables are declared in both stores.

#### 88.8% OF THE PRODUCTS DECLARED IN AT LEAST ONE STORE CONTAIN TOO ROUGH WOOD ORIGIN INFORMATION

Such as "South America, Eastern Europe, Scandinavia, New Zealand, Iberian Peninsula, Baltic States, Western Europe"

#### 100% OF THE ANALYSED PRODUCTS ARE INCONSISTENTLY DECLARED

There are differences between the information provided in stores and online.



# **Example: Table Möckelby**





### Produktbeschreibung Platte: Spanplatte, starkes Eichenfurnier, klarer Acryllack Beine/ Untergestell/ Querbalken: Spanplatte, massive Eiche, starkes Eichenfurnier, klarer Acryllack Eichenfurnier, klarer Acryllack

## GUT ZU WISSEN

Platz für 6 Personen. Der Tisch hat eine 3 mm starke Auflage aus massiver Eiche auf Spanplatte. Nur für Innenräume geeignet. Der Tisch ist für den Gebrauch in öffentlichen Raumen getestet und erfülit die Anforderungen bezüglich Sicherheit, Haltbarkeit und Stabilität gem. EN 15372 und ANSI/BIFMA X:5.5.

#### Produktmasse

Länge 235 cm Breite 100 cm Höhe 74 cm

#### Verpackung

Verpackung Masse 242x53x5 cm Gewicht 30.83 kg Verpackung 2 Masse 242x53x5 cm Gewicht

30.83 kg Verpackung 3 Masse 221x36x9 cm Gewicht 31.63 kg

#### **Eiche**

Herkunft: Westeuropa, Osteuropa. USA, Spanien, Litauen, Balkan, Italien

Wissenschaftlicher Name siehe www.holzdeklaration.ch

Mehr Infos zur Deklaration auf der entsprechenden Produkteseite auf IKEA.ch (III)

#### **WOOD DECLARATION IKEA ONLINE:**

Table beech (Fagus sylvatica). Country of felling. Origin: Slovakia, Slovenia

Table birch (Betula pendula). Country of felling. Origin: Lithuania, Russia

Table oak (Quercus petraea, Quercus robur, Quergus frainetto); Country of felling. **Origin: Romania** 

#### **WOOD DECLARATION IKEA STORE PRATTELN:**

Oak: Western Europe, Eastern Europe, USA, Spain, Lithuania, Balkans, Italy

#### **WOOD DECLARATION IKEA STORE SPREITENBACH:**

Oak: Western Europe, Eastern Europe, USA, Spain, Lithuania, Balkans, Italy

According to the Swiss Ordinance on the Declaration of Wood and Wood Products (SR 944-021), if the wood cannot be clearly assigned to one country of origin, several possible countries of origin may be indicated. If more than five countries of origin are possible, the smallest possible geographical area from which the wood originates may be indicated.

# 5. Conclusions

The findings presented in this report show that IKEA, through Ingka Investments, contributes to the rapid degradation of Romania's forests, including old-growth and other high conservation value (HCV) forests. Our investigation identified more than 50 suspected breaches of Romanian or EU law and bad forestry practices with serious impacts on habitats and species. These findings indicate that we are not dealing with isolated cases but with a consistent pattern of destructive logging. This pattern is visible in all the forests we visited, be they Ingka property or forests feeding the IKEA supply chain. Clearly, it shows that IKEA and the Ingka Group respect neither the EU nature conservation and climate policies, nor their own declared sustainability standards. Instead, they appear to be systematically taking advantage of existing loopholes and grey areas in the Romanian legislation and of its problematic enforcement, in order to maximise wood extraction. As the largest buyer and retailer of wood in the world and Romania's largest private forest owner with ca. 51,000 ha of forest, IKEA / Ingka Investments should know better.

Our main findings are based on field investigations of nine selected forest areas, and three connected wood processing facilities, as well as an in-depth analysis of the related forest management plans (FMP) and other official documents. Seven of the selected forest areas are Ingka-owned forests and two are forests connected to the IKEA supply chain. In all the analysed forests, we found evidence of intensive commercial logging, mostly through progressive logging, which left behind severely degraded forest ecosystems, including in HCV forests located in protected areas. We have documented extreme examples of soil degradation and erosion often observed on barren landscapes with little to no forest regeneration.

The forest management plan (FMP) analysis revealed the fact that the related FMPs generally focus on commercial logging with little consideration for nature conservation. **The FMPs of the seven visited Ingka-owned forests cover an area of more than 14,300 ha accounting for 28% of the total declared Ingka forests in Romania. Shockingly, only 0.05% of this vast forestland is under a strict**  protection regime. Furthermore, six of the seven management plans contain absolutely no forest under strict protection. Not even one hectare was found to be in strict protection out of almost 13,000 hectares representing the following six Ingka-owned areas from the counties of Iași, Buzău, Vrancea, Suceava, Neamt and Arges. Only 9.96% of these areas were under partial protection or moderate interventions regimes, amounting to 1,433 ha. Indeed, nearly 90% of the Ingka Investments properties analysed are under an intensive wood production regime, despite the fact that most of them are overlapping with or are located in the vicinity of natural protected areas such as Natura 2000 sites, national and natural parks. Overall, from the total of 51,335.49 ha owned by Ingka Investments in Romania (99% forest) only 1.04% are under a strict protection (non-intervention) regime and 8.25% are under partial protection.

This situation is clearly not in line with the EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030 and the upcoming **Nature Restoration Law.** Under the Biodiversity Strategy, the EU member states committed to legally protect a minimum of 30% of both Europe's land and sea by 2030, of which 10% will need to be strictly protected. One key goal is to strictly protect all remaining primary or old-growth forests in the EU (not just virgin forests in a narrow sense), while increasing the quantity, quality and resilience of all forests in the EU. The Nature Restoration Law is also a key policy instrument to reach the EU carbon sinks goal<sub>46</sub> and achieve climate neutrality by 2050. Through its consistent pattern of destructive logging, IKEA is contributing to the degradation of Romania's forests and to compromising the achievement of these goals by Romania. It should be noted that as a forest owner and administrator, Ingka Investments is directly responsible for what happens in its own forests. We suspect that the detected bad forestry practices and potential law violations are the result of a lack of oversight, lack of investment, insufficient monitoring by Ingka and misleading information on its sustainability credentials by IKEA.

More specifically, during our field investigations in forests owned by Ingka Investments in Romania, we documented a number of suspected misconducts in forest management. These represent in our opinion violations of national legislation, forestry planning and certification standards. They clearly contribute to forest degradation by negatively affecting the forest's characteristics, notably its continuity, typicality, naturalness, diversity, endurance, ecosystem functions and heritage value. **Complaints on the suspected misconducts** found in the visited Ingka forests were submitted to the competent Forest Guards of Cluj, Focşani, Suceava and Vâlcea. The alleged misconducts include serious issues such as:

- incorrect application of different logging types (e.g. progressive logging) with highly damaging consequences, e.g. post-logging forest regeneration not succeeding as it should;
- logging permits exceeding the inventoried volume per hectare compared to planning provisions (FMP) as well as other alleged illegalities related to logging permits;
- soil degradation caused by the passage of heavy machinery during rainy periods;
- non-compliance with exploitation conditions specific to protected natural areas;
- certain forest areas could have qualified for inclusion in the national catalogue of virgin and quasi-virgin forests; instead, they were logged and disqualified from protection;
- traces of heavy machinery passing through streams;
- no biodiversity (old) trees and dead wood left after logging;
- visible degradation of habitats and endangerment of species.

Considering these findings, the authors of this report urge IKEA and the Ingka Group to:

 practice what they preach, so that the "planet positive" image actually matches reality on the ground in all forests they own or source wood from. In Romania, this means strictly and effectively controlling the conduct of their subcontractors and suppliers to put an end to the ongoing destructive logging and bad forest management practices;

- immediately halt intensive commercial logging in all owned forests that are located within or near protected areas such as Natura 2000 sites, national and natural parks;
- strictly protect (T1 functional type according to Romanian law) at least 10% of their forest property in Romania; perform only closeto-nature forestry (T2) in 20% and selective logging (T3) in the remaining 70%. This should ensure compliance with national laws, EU nature laws and the FSC standard;
- strictly protect the entire forest body at Ţibău, an Ingka property that overlaps with the proposed area to establish the future Bucovina Peace National Park;
- ensure full traceability of all wood used in IKEA products worldwide, be it massive wood or composites. Only in this way can IKEA guarantee that the wood in its products is free of deforestation and forest degradation;
- not accept in its supply chain any wood coming from national or natural parks;
- allow independent forest monitoring by civil society and investigative journalists. Involving civil society organisations and independent media in the monitoring process of its own forests (e.g. audits alongside certification bodies) would help to ensure that sustainability standards are correctly implemented and actually meet their goals.

We call on IKEA to use its weight to help address issues such as corruption and insufficient forest monitoring, in order to change forestry for the better in Romania. As a company with total revenues of EUR 29.1 billion and a net profit of EUR 1.6 billion in the financial year 2023,<sup>47</sup> the Inter IKEA Group carries a special responsibility. It ought to set a clear and strong example of respecting and even going beyond legal obligations and sustainability standards in the forestry sector, especially in high illegal logging risk countries like Romania.

# Glossary

**APV (act de punere în valoare):** Logging permit according to Romanian legislation. In Romania, the documents proving the legal wood origin are: the logging permit (APV), the accompanying document, the customs import declaration, the intra-Community documents, and the wood material entry-exit register.<sup>48</sup>

**ARN works:** works meant to aid natural regeneration ("ajutorarea regenerării naturale") by taking care of naturally produced seedlings and in some cases facilitating their emergence (germination).

**Close to nature forestry:** Replacing clearcuts with lighter but more frequent harvestings, and allowing forests to naturally regenerate rather than transforming them into mono-species plantations. Such an approach can only be considered close-to-nature if it does not decrease the biodiversity of the forests. For example, in old-growth and primary forests it should not be intervened at all. Close-to-nature forestry maintains the integrity, heterogeneity and complexity of forest ecosystems, while producing high-value wood and a steady income.<sup>49</sup>

**Forest Inspector:** application available in Romania, in which any interested person can access the data from SUMAL wood traceability system in real time and check the legality of wood transports.

Forest management types: called functional types in Romanian legislation. According to the technical rules of Romanian law, forests are integrated into groups, subgroups and functional categories. Each subcategory has a functional type (T1, T2, T3...) indicating its protection level and other functions, e.g. economic.<sup>50</sup> Functional type T1 includes forests with special nature conservation functions, for which, by law, any kind of logging is prohibited. T1 forests are scientific reserves, nature reserves, landscape reserves, virgin and quasi-virgin forests, which conserve special genetic resources. Functional type T2 includes forests with special protection functions where timber harvesting is substantially reduced so that the restrictions imposed do not affect the forest ecosystem.<sup>51</sup>

**High conservation value (HCV) forest:** Continuously forested area (since 1955) where stands have similar structural complexity and are subject to anthropogenic pressure similar to primary and old-growth forests (i.e., low pressure).<sup>52</sup>

**Old-growth forest:** Forest stand or area consisting of native tree species that have developed, predominantly through natural processes, structures and dynamics normally associated with late-seral developmental phases in primary or undisturbed forests of the same type. Signs of former human activities may be visible, but they are gradually disappearing or too limited to significantly disturb natural processes.<sup>53</sup>

**Primary forest:** Naturally regenerated forest of native tree species, where there are no clearly visible indications of human activities and the ecological processes are not significantly disturbed.<sup>54</sup>

**SUMAL:** Romania's integrated wood traceability system, in which all operators transporting wood must fill in specific data (e.g. logging permit data including wood type and quantity etc), in order for their transports to be legal.

**U.P.:** "unitate de producție": forest production unit in forest management plans (FMP).

# Types of logging according to Romanian law (Order No. 2535/2022 and the Forest Code 46/2008):<sup>55</sup>

**Progressive logging** (in Romania legislation, referred to as 'tratamentul regenerărilor (tăierilor) progresive' and in APVs, referred as 'T. progresive'): irregular, repeated, successive and uneven cuts in different time periods throughout the "exploitable areas" which leaves gaps in the forest stand to enable natural regeneration. Treatment can last up to 30 years or more.

**Clearcutting** (in Romania legislation, referred as 'tratamentele cu tăieri rase' and in APVs, referred as 'T. rase'): harvesting all trees in an "exploitable area" in a single cut, usually intended to remove/ replace unsuitable forests.

**"Cvasi" close to nature logging** (in Romania legislation, referred to as 'tratamentul codrului cvasigrădinărit (tăierilor cvasigrădinărite sau

jardinatorii)'): repeated selective harvesting, applied over a longer tree regeneration period of 40 to 60 years.

**Conservation logging** (in Romanian legislation referred as 'lucrările speciale de conservare' and in APVs referred as 'T. conservare'): creating conditions to improve the profitability of the forest, in particular removing trees deemed to be of low-quality as to enable trees with superior characteristics. Limited to 10% of the total area and based on assessments of foresters.

Accidental logging (in Romanian legislation referred as 'Produse accidentale I & II' and in APVs referred as 'T. produse accidentale'): sanitary logging by removing trees that are impacted by biotitic and/or abiotic factors including dry/drying trees, trees broken by the wind or snow, as well as those that are sick, attacked by pests or impacted by pollution.

The logging regimes mentioned above do not consider aspects/needs of the ecological functions of the forest, including the biodiversity dependent on different types of forest succession.

## Annexes

# 1. SUMMARY table: Suspected breaches of EU or national law and bad forest management practices in forests owned by Ingka Investments in Romania

Analysed forest area according to FMP	Alleged breaches of law and poor forest management practices
1. U.P. Popești, Iași	<ul> <li>appropriate assessment (AA) not performed before logging</li> <li>number of allowed interventions was exceeded in parcel 144 (2 instead of 1)</li> <li>maximum allowed wood volume to be extracted was exceeded in parcels 144 and 145A by a total of 200.50 m<sup>3</sup></li> <li>poor natural regeneration for oak species</li> <li>biotope trees and dead wood missing</li> <li>clearcut around water bodies (several ponds)</li> <li>habitats and threatened species affected</li> <li>breaches of SUMAL wood traceability system, e.g. several transport notices showed deficiencies such as wood loads not clearly visible and abnormal routes taken</li> <li>soil degradation including erosion</li> <li>damage to trees not subject to logging.</li> </ul>
2. U.P. Nehoiu, Buzău (Penteleu forest)	<ul> <li>appropriate assessment (AA) not performed before logging</li> <li>falsification of average age for several parcels in forest management plan (FMP) opening them up to logging</li> <li>clearcuts disguised as close to nature forestry</li> <li>degradation of potentially primary and old-growth forest</li> <li>severe soil erosion due to use of heavy machinery during rainy weather</li> <li>damages to trees which were not subject to logging</li> <li>disqualification of forest areas from inclusion into National catalogue for virgin and quasi-virgin forests.</li> </ul>

Analysed forest area according to FMP	Alleged breaches of law and poor forest management practices
3. U.P. Țibău, Maramureș	<ul> <li>number of allowed interventions exceeded in parcel 21D (2 instead of 1)</li> <li>logging permits not renewed 8 months after expiry in parcel 13A</li> <li>progressive logging disguised as "close to nature" forestry</li> <li>traces of heavy machinery passing through the stream</li> <li>soil degradation caused by heavy machinery passing through during rainy periods</li> <li>access paths used for timber collection were not levelled, which caused water runoff and erosion in some areas</li> <li>visible ecosystem degradation</li> <li>no forest restoration conducted</li> <li>protection level lowered considerably since Ingka takeover, from strict or partial protection to intensive wood production</li> <li>no biodiversity trees and dead wood left after logging</li> <li>poor or missing forestry markings.</li> </ul>
4. U.P. Adâncata, Suceava	<ul> <li>clearcut allegedly illegally approved in mixed forest</li> <li>number of interventions exceeded in one parcel</li> <li>inappropriate works conducted in certain parcels; for instance, we found areas consistent with oak that should have been separated and logged with reduced intensity to allow natural regeneration</li> <li>exceeding the inventoried volume per hectare compared to the FMP planning provisions</li> <li>stand consistency is higher than 0.7, a value wrongly established by the forest planner</li> <li>no site preparation was carried out before planting</li> <li>no soil mobilisation works were carried out in existing plantations</li> <li>low growth and other problems in planted saplings due to lack of works</li> <li>previous logging recorded in 2013 (sanitary logging); Ingka takeover in 2014 and start of intensive logging.</li> </ul>
5. U.P. Cicănești, Argeș	<ul> <li>incorrect application of progressive logging with visible degradation of forest ecosystems</li> <li>due to classification as protection forests, these forests should have been put in category of moderate or no interventions</li> <li>number of interventions foreseen by FMP has been exceeded in one parcel</li> <li>soil degradation caused by the use of heavy machinery in periods of heavy rainfall; severe soil erosion up to 3-4m deep</li> <li>traces of machinery passing through the stream</li> <li>last autumn no ARN works were observed in the field</li> <li>biodiversity trees and dead wood were not preserved</li> <li>poor, unmaintained or missing forestry markings</li> <li>periodic pollution of the creek due to silt carried by torrents on eroded roads.</li> </ul>

Analysed forest area according to FMP	Alleged breaches of law and poor forest management practices
6. U.P. Ceahlău/ Dreptu, Neamț	<ul> <li>close to nature and progressive logging resulted in forest degradation</li> <li>forest stands of 170 years average age opened up to logging</li> <li>local stream degraded by logging operations</li> <li>severe soil degradation and erosion (3-4 metres deep forest road) caused by the use of heavy machinery in periods of rainfall; soil not levelled at the end of logging works</li> <li>soil degradation exacerbated by excessive tractor roads inside forest area</li> <li>damage to trees not subject to logging.</li> </ul>
7. U.P. Câmpuri- Panciu, Vrancea	<ul> <li>conditions of exploitation specific to the protected natural area Soveja Natura 2000 site not respected</li> <li>parcel 8F was downgraded by choosing the lower average age for the whole parcel</li> <li>no biodiversity trees and dead wood were preserved</li> <li>severe soil degradation caused by the use of heavy machinery in periods of rainfall; roads not levelled at the end of logging works</li> <li>soil degradation exacerbated by excessive tractor roads inside forest area</li> <li>soil degradation slowing down species regeneration</li> <li>damage to trees not subject to logging.</li> </ul>

## 2. Letter of concern from Agent Green and Bruno Manser Fonds to Ingka Group and IKEA Switzerland, Basel / Bucharest, 15 May 2023

3. Complaints to competent Forest Guards regarding suspected breaches of the law and bad forestry practice detected in Ingka forests

## Endnotes

1 Greenpeace (2022). The Carpathian forests. Europe's natural heritage under attack. https://www.greenpeace.org/static/planet4poland-stateless/2022/11/c2854071-the-carpathian-forests-reportdigital.pdf

2 Global Forest Watch (2024), https://www.globalforestwatch.org/ dashboards/country/ROU/?category=forest-change&location=WyJjb3 VudHJ5IiwiUk9VII0%3D

3 At least six officers trying to stop illegal logging were murdered and 650 other logging-related attacks were recorded in recent years in Romania. Source: The New Republic, Alexander Sammon, February 16, 2022, Ikea's Race for the Last of Europe's Old-Growth Forest, https://newrepublic.com/article/165245/ikea-romania-europe-oldgrowth-forest

4 Schickhofer M. & Schwarz U. (2019). Inventory of Potential Primary and Old-Growth Forest Areas in Romania (PRIMOFARO). Identifying the largest intact forests in the temperate zone of the European Union. https://www.euronatur.org/fileadmin/docs/Urwald-Kampagne\_ Rumaenien/PRIMOFARO\_24092019\_layouted.pdf

5 From Primofaro study: the figure is based on the Pin Matra report (Biriş and Veen 2005) which revealed 218,000 ha of virgin forest in Romania. Biriş I. & Veen P. (ed.) (2005). Inventory and strategy for sustainable management and protection of virgin forests in Romania. (PIN-MATRA/2001/018). ICAS and KNNV. Web source datasets digital maps:Pădurile virgine din România. Report and maps. http:// www.mmediu.ro/articol/proiect-pin-matra-padurile-virgine-dinromania/2068. However, the GIS file provided by the Romanian Ministry of Environment, Water and Forests shows only 210,503 hectares. http://www.mmediu.ro/articol/proiect-pin-matra-padurilevirgine-din-romania/2068

6 Munteanu, C. (2021). High Conservation Value Forests in Romania (0.0.1) [Data set]. Zenodo. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.4555708; Munteanu, C., Senf, C., Nita, M. D., Sabatini, F. M., Oeser, J., Seidl, R., & Kuemmerle, T. (2022). Using historical spy satellite photographs and recent remote sensing data to identify high-conservation-value forests. Conservation Biology, 36:e13820. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cobi.13820

7 Schickhofer M. & Schwarz U. (2019). Inventory of Potential Primary and Old-Growth Forest Areas in Romania (PRIMOFARO). Identifying the largest intact forests in the temperate zone of the European Union. https://www.euronatur.org/fileadmin/docs/Urwald-Kampagne\_ Rumaenien/PRIMOFARO\_24092019\_layouted.pdf

8 Ministry of Environment, Water and Forests (2023). Catalogul național al pădurilor virgine și cvasivirgine, 26 May 2023, http:// www.mmediu.ro/articol/catalogul-national-al-padurilor-virgine-sicvasivirgine/6233 9 Warner, E., Cook-Patton, S.C., Lewis, O.T., Brown, N., Koricheva, J., Eisenhauer, N., Ferlian, O., Gravel, D., Hall, J.S., Jactel, H., Mayoral, C., Meredieu, C., Messier, C., Paquette, A., Parker W.C., Potvin, C., Reich, P.B., Hector, A. (2023). Young mixed planted forests store more carbon than monocultures—a meta-analysis. Front. For. Glob. Change, 09 November 2023, Sec. Planted Forests, Volume 6 - 2023 | https://doi. org/10.3389/ffgc.2023.1226514

10 Regulation (EU) 2023/1115 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 31 May 2023 on the making available on the Union market and the export from the Union of certain commodities and products associated with deforestation and forest degradation and repealing Regulation (EU) No 995/2010 (Text with EEA relevance). Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32023R1115&qid=1687867231461

11 The EU infringement procedures we are referring to are:

- INFR(2020)2033 (EUTR, Birds and Habitats Directives). Formal notice from February 2020 and reasoned opinion from July 2020: Romania is not properly implementing the EU Timber Regulation (Regulation EU No. 995/2010) and large-scale illegal logging takes place; Romanian authorities still manage forests, including by issuing logging permits, without prior evaluation of impacts on protected habitats as required under the Habitats Directive (Directive 92/43/EEC) and the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directives (Directive 2001/42/EC). It has been proven that protected forest habitats have been lost within Natura 2000 sites in breach of the Habitats and Birds Directives (Directive 79/409/EEC);

- INFR(2020)2238 (Habitats Directive). Formal notice July 2020. Romania has not designated its EU Sites of Community Importance (SCIs) as Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and, it has generally and persistently failed to set site-specific detailed conservation objectives and measures, thus failing to maintain or restore the protected species and habitats to a favourable conservation status;

- INFR(2020)2297 (Habitats Directive). Formal notice October 2020. Among other issues, the Romanian legislation does not explicitly mention that conservation measures contained in management plans need to take into account the ecological requirements of the natural habitat types and species present on the Natura 2000 sites. This has a direct impact on the quality of the management plans as they may not contain the necessary measures to protect these habitat types and the corresponding species. The national law therefore limits the scope of a key provision of the Directive to activities within Natura 2000 sites.

12 http://news.euronatur.org/m/15111442/

13 Illegal logging in Romania is often disguised as legal, as shown in this report: Agent Green and EuroNatur (2022). TEN methods of theft and reasons for updating SUMAL, https://www.euronatur.org/ fileadmin/docs/Urwald-Kampagne\_Rumaenien/agent\_green\_report\_ ten\_methods\_of\_stealth\_and\_ten\_reasons\_to\_upgrade\_sumal.pdf

14 Agent Green and EuroNatur (2023). Investigation of Romanian forests in Natura 2000 sites, https://www.euronatur.org/fileadmin/ docs/Urwald-Kampagne\_Rumaenien/Investigation\_of\_Romanian\_ forests\_in\_Natura\_2000\_sites.pdf

15 European Environment Agency (2023). The Natura 2000 protected areas network, https://www.eea.europa.eu/themes/biodiversity/ natura-2000

16 European Commission (2024). Environmental Impact Assessment, https://environment.ec.europa.eu/law-and-governance/ environmental-assessments/environmental-impact-assessment\_en

17 Agent Green and EuroNatur (2023). Investigation of Romanian forests in Natura 2000 sites, https://www.euronatur.org/fileadmin/ docs/Urwald-Kampagne\_Rumaenien/Investigation\_of\_Romanian\_ forests\_in\_Natura\_2000\_sites.pdf

18 Ibidem

19 Andrei Ciurcanu (2023). Despre statul protector al biodiversității. O poveste lungă și neromanțată, https://andreiciurcanu.ro/2023/11/20/ despre-statul-protector-al-biodiverstatii-o-poveste-lunga-sineromantata/

20 Angelova, E.H., D.L. Irimie, M. Sotirov, and G. Winkel (2009). Bulgarien und Rumänien in der Europäischen Union – Forstpolitische Herausforderungen | Bulgaria and Romania in the European Union – Challenges for forest policy. Swiss Forestry Journal 160: 15–22. https://doi.org/10.3188/szf.2009.0015.

21 Ingka Group governance, https://www.ingka.com/this-is-ingkagroup/how-we-are-organised/; https://www.ingka.com/this-is-ingkagroup/. IKEA has a complex corporate structure which is reportedly linked to avoiding taxes. Among others, since INGKA Holding is owned by the non-profit INGKA Foundation, a large part of IKEA profit is not taxed. Source: The Greens / EFA (2016). IKEA: FLAT PACK TAX AVOIDANCE, https://www.greens-efa.eu/legacy/fileadmin/dam/ Documents/Studies/Taxation/Report\_IKEA\_tax\_avoidance\_Feb2016. pdf

22 Ingka Group, https://www.ingka.com/this-is-ingka-group/

23 IKEA Foundation, https://www.ikea.com/ch/en/this-is-ikea/aboutus/one-brand-pub07af8e71, https://ikeafoundation.org/our-fundingand-governance/

24 IKEA, Die IKEA Nachhaltigkeitsstrategie, https://www. ikea.com/ch/de/this-is-ikea/climate-environment/die-ikeanachhaltigkeitsstrategie-pubfea4c210

25 IKEA, How does IKEA make sure its wood is responsibly sourced? https://www.ikea.com/global/en/our-business/people-planet/woodcontrol-system/

26 International Consortium of Investigative Journalists (ICIJ). Environmental auditors approve green labels for products linked to deforestation and authoritarian regimes, March 2023, https://www. icij.org/investigations/deforestation-inc/auditors-green-labelssustainability-environmental-harm/

27 Nygaard A (2023). Is sustainable certification's ability to combat greenwashing trustworthy? Front. Sustain. 4:1188069. doi: 10.3389/ frsus.2023.1188069

28 Normele tehnice privind alegerea și aplicarea tratamentelor, din 28.09.2022. Parte integrantă din Ordin 2535/2022. https://lege5. ro/Gratuit/gezdoobugyyda/normele-tehnice-privind-alegerea-siaplicarea-tratamentelor-din-28092022

29 Agent Green (2021). Hypocrisy! IKEA's cynical destruction of Romania's old-growth forests, https://www.agentgreen.ro/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/20210826\_IKEA\_hipocrisy\_EN.pdf

30 European Commission (2023). Commission Guidelines for Defining, Mapping, Monitoring and Strictly Protecting EU Primary and Old-Growth Forest. SWD(2023) 62 final, Brussels, 20.3.2023, file:/// Users/inesgavrilut/Downloads/SWD(2023)62\_0.pdf

31 Agerpres. Comunicat de presă - MMAP. Guvernul României a adoptat astăzi noul Cod Silvic, 21.03.2024, https://www.agerpres.ro/ comunicate/2024/03/21/comunicat-de-presa-mmap--1268458

32 https://search.fsc.org/en/certificate/ a023300000azlojAAE/?tab=documents

33 Environmental Investigation Agency (EIA). Major ikea wood product suppliers in Romania (internal document).

34 According to IUCN, species assessed as Critically Endangered (CR), Endangered (EN), or Vulnerable (VU) are referred to as "threatened" species.

35 According to IUCN, species assessed as Critically Endangered (CR), Endangered (EN), or Vulnerable (VU) are referred to as "threatened" species.

36 This forest area was part of a previous investigation by Agent Green, and the report from August 2021: https://www.agentgreen.ro/ wp-content/uploads/2021/08/20210826\_IKEA\_hipocrisy\_EN.pdf.

37 International Consortium of Investigative Journalists (ICIJ). Environmental auditors approve green labels for products linked to deforestation and authoritarian regimes, March 2023, https://www. icij.org/investigations/deforestation-inc/auditors-green-labelssustainability-environmental-harm/

38 Soil Association Certification. Forest Certification FM Evaluation Report FSC-C131270 20230830, 2021, https://search.fsc.org/de/ certificate/a023300000azlojAAE/?tab=documents

39 Currently, according to Romanian legislation, the specialised firms developing FMPs are not criminally liable for errors in the plans they draw up.

40 Agent Green and EuroNatur (2022). TEN methods of theft and reasons for updating SUMAL, https://www.euronatur.org/fileadmin/ docs/Urwald-Kampagne\_Rumaenien/agent\_green\_report\_ten\_ methods\_of\_stealth\_and\_ten\_reasons\_to\_upgrade\_sumal.pdf

41 Regulation (EU) 2023/1115 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 31 May 2023 on the making available on the Union market and the export from the Union of certain commodities and products associated with deforestation and forest degradation and repealing Regulation (EU) No 995/2010 (Text with EEA relevance). Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32023R1115&qid=1687867231461

42 The New Republic, Alexander Sammon, February 16, 2022, Ikea's Race for the Last of Europe's Old-Growth Forest, https://newrepublic. com/article/165245/ikea-romania-europe-old-growth-forest

#### 43 Ibidem

44 The Ordinance of the Federal Council on the Declaration of Wood and Wood Products of June 4, 2010 (SR 944-021) regulates the declaration obligations and the control of the declaration for wood and wood products. According to the ordinance, furniture whose main components are made of solid wood must be declared. Furniture where, for example, only the non-visible supporting structures are made of solid wood does not have to be declared. Solid wood panels as such, however, are not subject to declaration. Furniture made from solid wood panels must be declared.

45 According to the Ordinance on the Declaration of Wood and Wood Products (SR 944.021), persons who sell wood and wood products to consumers are obliged to declare the type of wood and the origin of the wood (the country in which the wood was harvested). Logs and raw wood as well as a limited number of solid wood products whose type and origin can be determined relatively easily must be declared.

46 The EU regulation on the land use, land use change and forestry sector (LULUCF) was revised in 2023. One of its new targets is to increase EU carbon sinks by 15% by 2030. Source: European Parliament, Press release: Parliament adopts new carbon sinks goal that increases EU 2030 climate ambition, available at: https:// www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/press-room/20230310IPR77223/ parliament-adopts-new-carbon-sinks-goal-that-increases-eu-2030climate-ambition

47 Inter IKEA Group Financial Summary FY23: https://www.inter. ikea.com/-/media/interikea/igi/financial-reports/inter\_ikea\_group\_ financial\_summary\_fy23\_31-10-2023\_.pdf

48 Norma referitoare la proveniența, circulația și comercializarea materialelor lemnoase, la regimul spațiilor de depozitare a materialelor lemnoase și al instalațiilor de prelucrat lemn rotund din 27.08.2008. Art 3 Documentele de proveniență și documentele de însoțire ale materialelor lemnoase. Normă. Parte integrantă din Hotărâre 996/2008.

49 FERN, https://www.fern.org/de/issues/close-to-nature-forestry/

50 Ministry of Environment, Water and Forests (2018). Normele tehnice privind elaborarea amenajamentelor silvice, modificarea prevederilor acestora și schimbarea categoriei de folosință a terenurilor din fondul forestier, din 23.07.2018. Parte integrantă din Ordin 766/2018, https://lege5.ro/Gratuit/gi4tembzgaya/grupa-ipaduri-cu-functii-speciale-de-protectie-norma-tehnica

51 https://www.mmediu.ro/app/webroot/uploads/files/2016-01-21\_ Proiect-HG.pdf

52 Sabatini et al., 2018, 2020: Sabatini, F. M., Burrascano, S., Keeton, W. S., Levers, C., Lindner, M., Pötzschner, F., Verkerk, P. J., Bauhus, J., Buchwald, E., Chaskovsky, O., Debaive, N., Horváth, F., Garbarino, M., Grigoriadis, N., Lombardi, F., Duarte, I. M., Meyer, P., Midteng, R., Mikac, S., Mikoláš, M., Motta, R., Mozgeris, G., Nunes,L., Panayotov, M., Ódor, P., Ruete, A., Simovski, B., Stillhard, J., Svoboda, M., Szwagrzyk, J., Tikkanen, O-P., Volosyanchuk, R., Vrska, T., Zlatanov, T, Kuemmerle, T. (2018). Where are Europe's last primary forests? Divers Distrib. 2018; 24: 1426–1439. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12778

Sabatini, F. M., Keeton, W. S., Lindner, M., Svoboda, M., Verkerk, P. J., Bauhus, J., Bruelheide, H., Burrascano, S., Debaive, N., Duarte, I., Garbarino, M., Grigoriadis, N., Lombardi, F., Mikoláš, M., Meyer, P., Motta, R., Mozgeris, G., Nunes, L., Ódor, P., ... Kuemmerle, T. (2020).

Protection gaps and restoration opportunities for primary forests in Europe. Diversity and Distributions, 26, 1646–1662.

53 European Commission (2023). Commission Guidelines for Defining, Mapping, Monitoring and Strictly Protecting EU Primary and Old-Growth Forest. SWD(2023) 62 final, Brussels, 20.3.2023, file:/// Users/inesgavrilut/Downloads/SWD(2023)62\_0.pdf

#### 54 Ibidem

55 Ministry of Environment, Water and Forests (2022). Ghid din 28 septembrie 2022 de bune practici privind alegerea și aplicarea tratamentelor. Publicat în MONITORUL OFICIAL nr. 994 bis din 13 octombrie 2022, https://legislatie.just.ro/Public/ DetaliiDocumentAfis/260479